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          1  COMMITTEE ON CONSUMER AFFAIRS

          2                 CHAIRPERSON KOSLOWITZ: Good

          3  afternoon. For years this Committee and the

          4  Department of Consumer Affairs have been concerned

          5  about the enormous number of complaints generated by

          6  the furniture industry and the difficulty in

          7  resolving them. Both DCA and the Better Business

          8  Bureau have stood before this Committee and

          9  explained these problems for years.

         10                 Two years ago we had a hearing on an

         11  Administration bill, Intro. 650, to license

         12  furniture and major appliance stores. At that time,

         13  we received a number of comments from industry with

         14  concerns about the bill.

         15                 The bill before us today, Intro. 540,

         16  tries to address some of the problems raised by

         17  Intro. 650, while maintaining key elements of that

         18  bill, including licensing furniture and major

         19  appliance dealers, requiring bonding or

         20  participation in an alternative fund and a two-year

         21  sunset to allow us to evaluate the helpfullness of

         22  this law in dealing with these problems.

         23                 This bill targets the businesses that

         24  the State merchandise delivery law affects and has

         25  exactly the same delivery requirements as the state,
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          2  except we also include custom furniture.

          3                 For custom furniture, the bill allows

          4  an additional 30 days, as long as there is any proof

          5  that the manufacturer has started work on the item

          6  and anticipates being able to complete the order

          7  within such period.

          8                 Additionally in the last bill there

          9  were complaints that the Department stores were

         10  exempt, even though they were engaged in the same

         11  business and that the receipt requirements allow

         12  customers and competitors to go around the retailer

         13  and order directly from the same manufacturer.

         14                 For these reasons the current bill

         15  includes the Department stores and modified the

         16  receipt requirements, such that furniture would have

         17  to be adequately described but not require

         18  manufacturer information.

         19                 Because there has really been a lot

         20  of redrafting, this really is a first hearing on

         21  this bill. We will be happy to hear all comments

         22  today and expect to revise this bill in accordance

         23  with comments we receive.

         24                 One of the problems with consumer

         25  issues is that in a time where most people work, it
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          2  is difficult for consumers to come in and complain.

          3  Although we often get complaints by phone, we do

          4  have one young woman with us today who would like to

          5  explain what happened to her and I would also like

          6  to add Felix Ciampa, our Acting Counsel for today,

          7  to read a letter from a woman who was at work but

          8  very much wanted to express her frustration with her

          9  furniture delivery. I think these stories typify the

         10  problems encountered by thousands of people a year,

         11  and I am going to ask Felix to please read the

         12  letter into the record.

         13                 MR. CIAMPA: The letter is dated June

         14  15th, 1999.

         15                 On April 25th of 1998, I placed an

         16  order for a leather livingroom set, a couch and love

         17  seat from Jennifer Convertibles, located at

         18  Livingston Street in Brooklyn, New York.

         19                 I was told that my order would take

         20  approximately eight to sixteen weeks to be

         21  delivered, due to the fact that it would be imported

         22  from Italy. The arrival date was set for August

         23  23rd.

         24                 In anticipation of the arrival of my

         25  new furniture, I took off a day from my job as a
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          2  school safety officer. My furniture was never

          3  delivered and I never received a telephone call.

          4                 When I contacted Jennifer

          5  Convertibles, I was told that my furniture did

          6  arrive from Italy, but it was ripped. They also

          7  informed me that someone else placed the exact same

          8  order and the other party was willing to let me have

          9  their set.

         10                 A second delivery date was set for

         11  August 28th. I took off another day from work and

         12  once again no furniture, no telephone call. This

         13  time the excuse given to me when I called was that

         14  the delivery men were held up and robbed.

         15                 For a third time I was given a

         16  delivery date. This time it was for September 12th.

         17  Because the school year was beginning and the nature

         18  of my job, I was unable to take off from work a

         19  third time. My husband, who is an officer, took the

         20  day off. For the fourth time, no furniture.

         21                 When I called them, I was told

         22  September 14th. At this point I was fed up,

         23  aggravated and angry. I had taken off two days from

         24  work and my husband one day. On September 12th I

         25  made it very clear that I wanted my delivery fee of
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          2  $100 returned and I was promised that it would be.

          3  My furniture didn't arrive on September 14th, it

          4  arrived September 16th. My furniture cost me much

          5  more than the $1,602.05. I endured stress,

          6  aggravation, time and money lost from work and three

          7  and one-half weeks without furniture.

          8                 The letter is signed Ina Brathwathe

          9  (phonetic).

         10                 CHAIRPERSON KOSLOWITZ: Before we

         11  continue, I would like to recognize my colleagues.

         12  To my extreme left, Council Member Lloyd Henry,

         13  Council Member Annette Robinson, Council Member John

         14  Sabini, and Council Member Howard Lasher.

         15                 At this time I would like to call on

         16  the Administration.

         17                 COMMISSIONER POLONETSKY: Good

         18  afternoon, Chairwoman Koslowitz, members of the

         19  Committee. Thank you for the opportunity to testify

         20  about Intro. 540, a bill that would require

         21  furniture and major appliance dealers to obtain a

         22  license from the Department of Consumer Affairs.

         23                 Over the years, furniture stores have

         24  been a source of complaints at the Department. Even,

         25  however, with the limited legal remedies at our
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          2  disposal, the Department has successfully resolved a

          3  majority of these complaints in favor of consumers.

          4                 Although that still does leave some

          5  complaints unresolved, the Department agrees that

          6  without additional powers, some of these complaints

          7  will continue to remain unresolved.

          8                 We believe, however, that there is an

          9  effective and a more effective way to actually give

         10  the Department the ability to resolve those

         11  complaints that we currently are not able to settle

         12  successfully in favor of consumers. We don't believe

         13  that a complicated licensing system that would put

         14  New York City businesses at a disadvantage is the

         15  best way to address these complaints.

         16                 We believe that the best way to deal

         17  with these complaints is to give the Department the

         18  power it needs to enforce the consumer protection

         19  laws that already exist.

         20                 That power would come in the form of

         21  hearing authority, a provision that we have

         22  discussed with this Committee in the past.

         23                 Giving the Department hearing

         24  authority over the consumer protection law

         25  violations that we currently handle would enable the
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          2  Department to resolve these complaints, not only

          3  against furniture and appliance stores, but a host

          4  of other unscrupulous businesses that may take

          5  advantage of consumers.

          6                 Let me explain briefly how this

          7  works. Virtually all of the complaints we receive

          8  against furniture stores involve some type of

          9  consumer protection law violations. If a furniture

         10  store promises to deliver merchandise by a certain

         11  date and then fails to do so, that would be a

         12  deceptive trade practice under the CPL. If the

         13  consumer ordered a blue couch and received instead

         14  of what they ordered, a red couch or a couch of a

         15  different description because of an overaggressive

         16  sales person eager to make the sale, promised that

         17  what they wanted is available and indeed it is not,

         18  that would certainly be considered an unfair trade

         19  practice, also covered by the CPL.

         20                 Under current law, the CPL violations

         21  we write are unhearable. That means although the

         22  Department initially tries to mediate the complaint

         23  and resolve it in our Consumer Services Division, if

         24  we cannot we refer it to our Legal Division where a

         25  violation is written against the business. We do not
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          2  have the authority to hold a hearing before the

          3  Administrative Law Judge over the case.

          4                 To enforce such a violation, the

          5  Department has to sue the offending business, in

          6  this case a furniture store or an appliance dealer

          7  in court. The Department does do that when there are

          8  a significant number of complaints against one

          9  particular business. However, as you can imagine,

         10  suing in court every store every time there is a

         11  complaint against that location would be an

         12  expensive, burdensome and inefficient process for

         13  the Department.

         14                 If we had hearing authority for these

         15  CPL complaints, the merchant that received the

         16  violation would be required to appear before one of

         17  the Department's Administrative Law Judges.

         18                 After a fair hearing during which the

         19  business could present a defense and during which

         20  the consumer would lay out their complaints, an

         21  administrative law judge would issue a ruling. If a

         22  merchant refused to comply with that ruling, the

         23  Department can simply go to court and use our ALJ's

         24  decision for a summary judgment motion ordering the

         25  merchant to comply. Violating that summary judgement

             Legal-Ease Court Reporting Services, Inc. (800) 756-3410

                                                            12

          1  COMMITTEE ON CONSUMER AFFAIRS

          2  order would be contempt of court and our decision of

          3  damages or violations could be enforced by a marshal

          4  collecting on behalf of the court.

          5                 When considering recent bills such as

          6  the laser-pointer bill, as well as the proposed

          7  amendment to the toy gun bill that we have discussed

          8  with the Committee, the Council has recognized that

          9  hearing authority is an important and effective

         10  tool. Using the hearing authority approach in this

         11  case would equally be effective.

         12                 The goal of the proposed furniture

         13  license is to ensure that the Department can

         14  effectively mediate these complaints. Hearing

         15  authority would accomplish that goal without

         16  subjecting merchants to licensing fees, bonding

         17  costs and the additional red tape.

         18                 As I said, even without hearing

         19  authority, the Department is resolving a majority of

         20  the complaints filed against furniture stores.

         21                 Two-thirds of the complaints

         22  approximately against businesses that still are in

         23  business are resolved in favor of the consumer

         24  successfully. With hearing authority, I am confident

         25  that we will be able to resolve virtually every one
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          2  of those complaints.

          3                 Let me reiterate that furniture store

          4  complaints must be addressed. The way, however, to

          5  deal with those complaints, as well as the

          6  complaints against many other businesses where

          7  similar issues arise, is to give the Department the

          8  authority it needs to enforce the existing consumer

          9  protection laws. Granting DCA hearing authority over

         10  the CPL law is the best way to do that. This

         11  approach will protect consumers from unscrupulous

         12  businesses, without putting an unnecessary burden on

         13  the vast majority of business owners who provide

         14  exemplary service to their customers while

         15  contributing to the economic health of this City.

         16                 Thank you, again, for the opportunity

         17  to testify on this bill.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON KOSLOWITZ: I would have

         19  to say that it is a very big turn-around from last

         20  year.

         21                 COMMISSIONER POLONETSKY: Well,

         22  Commissioner Maldonado, as you know, introduced and

         23  on behalf of the Department and the City a version

         24  of a furniture bill in 1997. When I came in we took

         25  a look at the way our Consumer Services Division was

             Legal-Ease Court Reporting Services, Inc. (800) 756-3410

                                                            14

          1  COMMITTEE ON CONSUMER AFFAIRS

          2  resolving a broad number of complaints. I changed

          3  what I thought were a significant number of

          4  practices that would help us resolve complaints more

          5  effectively and faster. Now, furniture stores is one

          6  of the categories, but, frankly, there were a number

          7  of categories where the Consumer Services Division

          8  would open a case and keep the case opened in a hope

          9  to effectively resolve it. We track our mediators on

         10  the progress they make in successfully resolving

         11  cases, mediators who seem to be ineffective at

         12  resolving an effective number of cases clearly need

         13  retraining or clearly not doing their job as

         14  effectively as a mediator properly trained in the

         15  law who appropriately resolves things with

         16  businesses.

         17                 We found that there were mediators

         18  who so as not to close out a case unsuccessfully

         19  would keep the case open, giving, for instance, a

         20  furniture store months and months to successfully

         21  finally deliver.

         22                 You know, as you described in the

         23  letter, for many people, eventually getting the item

         24  you want, many months down the line at a greater

         25  extent shouldn't be considered a very successful
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          2  resolution, it is better they are not getting

          3  anything at all.

          4                 What I decided that we would do is

          5  after a pre-determined time period, if the mediator

          6  was not able to guarantee that the customer got

          7  delivery of their item, it would be immediately

          8  referred to our Legal Division, a violation would be

          9  written. The furniture store now, perhaps having

         10  ignored our mediator that receiving a legal

         11  complaint with a fine from one of our attorneys

         12  would be increasingly more motivated to call us to

         13  resolve the complaint, to pay the fine, to try to

         14  avoid what they perceive as legal action. So, we cut

         15  the time period in a number of cases. If you could

         16  resolve the case successfully in several weeks,

         17  resolve it. If you cannot resolve, and each of our

         18  categories has a different time period, obviously,

         19  for instance, furniture stores need a longer period

         20  than business where somebody wants to return

         21  something and the store ought to immediately issue a

         22  refund, the furniture store obviously is ordering

         23  something, there is a delivery date, but after a

         24  determined cut-off time, we close those cases and we

         25  have our Legal Department begin a legal enforcement
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          2  process and that has been more effective and so we

          3  have seen a greater number of cases being resolved,

          4  both for furniture stores and others.

          5                 I believe that we resolve an even

          6  greater number of cases, instead of just writing a

          7  violation which some stores take seriously, others

          8  seem to be ready to scoff at, if we actually had the

          9  authority to force that store to come in for a

         10  hearing, hear both sides, have an administrative law

         11  judge determine the decision, which we then could

         12  easily move for summary judgment if the business

         13  didn't resolve, assuming of course the consumer was

         14  right.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON KOSLOWITZ: Except the

         16  fact that we are now taking the consumer who has had

         17  a tremendous amount of aggravation having problems

         18  buying the furniture, getting the furniture or a

         19  place going out of business, and now we are putting

         20  them through bureaucratic red tape, that they have

         21  to go through different mazes to finally get some

         22  resolution, and usually they find out that they are

         23  having a problem when it comes time for the

         24  furniture to be delivered that isn't delivered. And

         25  they plan around that date.
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          2                 Now they have to go probably months

          3  down the road and go through all kinds of mazes to

          4  resolve their problem.

          5                 COMMISSIONER POLONETSKY: Well, that

          6  is exactly what would happen if they had a license

          7  as well, frankly. If a furniture store was licensed

          8  and the consumer made a complaint, we would do the

          9  exact same thing. The Consumer Services Division

         10  would take the complaint, call up the store, write

         11  them, require that they give us a response. The same

         12  exact process would take place whether or not the

         13  store had a license.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON KOSLOWITZ: My feeling is

         15  at this point, you know, in knowing and working with

         16  Consumer Affairs, and certainly absolutely nothing

         17  to do with you, because I think you do a wonderful

         18  job, but I think that your agency is taking on too

         19  much with too little, and we know this. We know that

         20  as far as inspectors are concerned, people going

         21  out, you have to take care of a whole city and this

         22  is just another problem that you are taking on that

         23  maybe could be resolved in another way.

         24                 COMMISSIONER POLONETSKY: I think this

         25  is a job we already have, Chairwoman. We already
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          2  deal with the furniture industry. We receive a

          3  substantial number of complaints and we mediate

          4  those complaints. So we are already doing this

          5  mediation and we are doing the enforcement in this

          6  area, the question is what tools do we need to solve

          7  the problems that today aren't successfully

          8  resolved. The Committee suggests that with a license

          9  the Department will be able to effectively resolve

         10  the I guess one-third of the cases that are not

         11  being resolved right now, my suggestion is that with

         12  hearing authority we will be able to resolve that

         13  extra one-third of cases. But we are already

         14  handling these cases. What I would like to do is

         15  make sure that we resolve 99.9 percent of the cases.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON KOSLOWITZ: Don't you have

         17  a faster track record resolving people who are

         18  licensed, opposed to people that are not licensed?

         19                 COMMISSIONER POLONETSKY: It takes an

         20  average of 32 days right now to resolve a furniture

         21  store complaint, and that is probably a reasonable

         22  period of time given the fact that a store might

         23  say, okay, I can deliver you a new one and indeed

         24  does within two weeks successfully deliver a new

         25  couch or so forth. So, I don't think that furniture
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          2  stores, which for instance are not licensed, are

          3  taking us longer than many of the other categories.

          4                 Even in the licensed categories, what

          5  happens is we give the merchant the same statutory

          6  period of time. They have an opportunity to respond,

          7  the consumer has an opportunity to rebut. So,

          8  whether there is a license or not, the time frames

          9  are the same.

         10                 I think the only real practical

         11  difference is at the end of the day if the store

         12  doesn't comply and there is a bad enough record, we

         13  theoretically could bring a license to padlock the

         14  business.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON KOSLOWITZ: I just wanted

         16  to recall something, because I remember it

         17  happening. I think a perfect example was the

         18  electronic stores that were licensed in New York

         19  City, and the resolutions to the problems were so

         20  much quicker that collectively we went Citywide and

         21  licensed all of the electronic stores throughout the

         22  City.

         23                 COMMISSIONER POLONETSKY: I think

         24  there is a big difference with electronic stores.

         25  The prime targets for many of the stores who are
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          2  unscrupulous, frankly, are tourists, walk around

          3  some of the real busy tourist entered stores in

          4  tourist neighborhoods of the area, and you have

          5  people who are relatively unsophisticated about

          6  buying electronics and frankly New Yorkers who can

          7  buy a quick glance, not tell the difference between

          8  a computer with a certain kind of component versus

          9  other components.

         10                 And so I think that although a

         11  majority of the electronic stores in the City are

         12  operating in a reputable way, there unfortunately

         13  has long been a bottom tier of businesses who

         14  frankly do their business solely by selling

         15  refurbished items as new, lying about the

         16  manufactured suggested retail price. We had a couple

         17  of months ago, if you recall, some merchants who

         18  were telling tourists that they could get their

         19  sales tax back like that at the airport. We don't

         20  have that same type of problem with furniture

         21  stores. With furniture stores the problems really

         22  are, is there a sales person who is promising

         23  something that isn't deliverable, is there a store

         24  that for the purpose of making the sale and taking a

         25  large deposit up front, making commitments that they
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          2  cannot in the end of the day live up to or if they

          3  have a delivery problem and so forth. And so the

          4  problems are substantial but I think that they are

          5  substantially different from electronic stores where

          6  indeed we actually have to shut down an operating

          7  business because of its poor business practice.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON KOSLOWITZ: I don't know

          9  if you recall we had a woman that testified last

         10  year when it was the Administration's bill who came

         11  in and said that she had put down $20,000 for her

         12  furniture and the store went out of business and we

         13  just heard another letter and there are so many

         14  furniture stores going up throughout the City,

         15  opening up. I know in my immediate area there are so

         16  many furniture stores going up.

         17                 COMMISSIONER POLONETSKY: I think we

         18  can solve this problem by taking legal action

         19  against them. Today we write a fine and, frankly,

         20  unless there is a store that has a string of cases

         21  where we should take legal action on behalf of a

         22  significant number of consumers, I think that being

         23  able to go into court with an ALJ's decision and

         24  getting a motion for summary judgment against those

         25  stores is going to be a successful way --
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON KOSLOWITZ: But we

          3  couldn't find that person. The person moved some

          4  place else and changed their name. They could not

          5  find that person and that person had this woman's

          6  last money practically, $20,000 of it.

          7                 COMMISSIONER POLONETSKY: Well, one of

          8  the things that we certainly need to make sure is

          9  that consumers know whether they are dealing with a

         10  furnished store or any other sale where they are

         11  going to put down a large hunk of money is that they

         12  need to use their credit card or other mechanism

         13  where they are not laying down a huge chunk of money

         14  risking a company going out of business.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON KOSLOWITZ: Except that we

         16  are putting a burden on people because not everybody

         17  has charge cards. Are we telling everybody that in

         18  order to have furniture you have to have a charge

         19  card? I don't think that is fair to New Yorkers to

         20  be burdened with having a charge card to buy

         21  furniture.

         22                 COMMISSIONER POLONETSKY: I agree. We

         23  recommend that people use a charge card to provide a

         24  level of protection so they can easily cancel it if

         25  the business is not there, whether it is a furniture

             Legal-Ease Court Reporting Services, Inc. (800) 756-3410

                                                            23

          1  COMMITTEE ON CONSUMER AFFAIRS

          2  store or any other kind of store. But I think we

          3  have the tools now and by the fact that we can

          4  resolve almost two-thirds of these cases

          5  successfully without having to go through the

          6  licensing process, I think with the minimal

          7  additional authority of hearing authority, we would

          8  resolve the vast number of those cases successfully.

          9                 I think instituting a licensing

         10  requirement goes I think beyond what the Department

         11  needs to be able to resolve those remaining cases.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON KOSLOWITZ: Well, how do

         13  we address all these furniture stores that are

         14  opening up in different communities?

         15                 I am not talking about a named store,

         16  I am just talking about a store in my neighborhood,

         17  in the last year I would say at least five different

         18  furniture stores opened up.

         19                 COMMISSIONER POLONETSKY: I think that

         20  is a great compliment to the busseling economy in

         21  your district, that these stores are opening up. I

         22  don't know that instituting a licensing process for

         23  every one of those stores is necessary. I think that

         24  these stores who currently deal with the Department

         25  when there are complaints, two-thirds of those
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          2  complaints get resolved. I think if we were able to

          3  go to court quickly with a motion for summary

          4  judgment on an ALJ's decision, we would quickly be

          5  able to effectively take legal action against stores

          6  that were beginning to become problem locations.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON KOSLOWITZ: Well, I am not

          8  so sure when you talk about going to court that it

          9  is done so quickly.

         10                 COMMISSIONER POLONETSKY: Today it is

         11  not done quickly because we actually have to file a

         12  full proceeding which we do in the worst cases. With

         13  a motion for summary judgment on an ALJ's decision,

         14  the courts have thankfully been giving a substantial

         15  amount of deference to an ALJ's expertise, and our

         16  consumer law court decisions in court. And so what

         17  we usually can do when we have a decision is quickly

         18  move, we have been doing that with some of the

         19  supermarkets where, you know, we had a problem with

         20  a number of City area supermarkets that were running

         21  up substantial dollar amounts in fines because if

         22  item pricing violations or weights and measure

         23  violations and not paying, we won a decision some

         24  time ago and we started and sure enough, those

         25  stores have very quickly come in and dealt with
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          2  their violations and paid their fines and rectified

          3  their scale violations that were taking place at

          4  those stores.

          5                 Unfortunately, we don't have the good

          6  graces of that kind of authority with furniture

          7  stores or with many of our other categories, and I

          8  think that with that sort of hearing authority, we

          9  get everything we get with licensing substantially

         10  without the bureaucratic process of having to set up

         11  an entire licensing structure at the Department.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON KOSLOWITZ: Where would

         13  you say that most of your complaints come from?

         14  Large department stores or little stores?

         15                 COMMISSIONER POLONETSKY: The

         16  department stores are responsible for a somewhat

         17  proportionally smaller number of complaints,

         18  although there are complaints against furniture

         19  stores throughout the City.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON KOSLOWITZ: Okay. I just

         21  want to ask you, how much money do home improvement

         22  people pay into the fund?

         23                 COMMISSIONER POLONETSKY: $200.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON KOSLOWITZ: Every year or

         25  two years?
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          2                 COMMISSIONER POLONETSKY: It's a

          3  two-year license. Every two years.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON KOSLOWITZ: So that is

          5  $100 a year.

          6                 COMMISSIONER POLONETSKY: Yes. They

          7  make a $200 payment once every two years.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON KOSLOWITZ: And the

          9  license?

         10                 COMMISSIONER POLONETSKY: The license

         11  is also $200.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON KOSLOWITZ: Every two

         13  years?

         14                 COMMISSIONER POLONETSKY: Same time

         15  period.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON KOSLOWITZ: So, we are

         17  talking about $200 a year that it would cost to

         18  license furniture stores?

         19                 COMMISSIONER POLONETSKY: Well, we

         20  would have to calculate the dollar amounts that it

         21  would take to license that category. We go through a

         22  process whenever we consider a license that

         23  determines what the cost of the Department would be,

         24  and legally all we can charge is the share of the

         25  cost that it would take us to go ahead and propose
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          2  that specific license.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON KOSLOWITZ:  Well, do you

          4  see that being more than appliances -- home

          5  improvements?

          6                 COMMISSIONER POLONETSKY: I believe in

          7  the past when the dollar amount was calculated for

          8  furniture stores it was $340.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON KOSLOWITZ: A year or

         10  every two years?

         11                 COMMISSIONER POLONETSKY: Two years.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON KOSLOWITZ: Council Member

         13  Sabini.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER SABINI: Thank you,

         15  Madam Chair. Good afternoon, Commissioner.

         16                 I guess by this and other hearings

         17  that we have had on other issues that the

         18  philosophical backdrop of not licensing is always

         19  sort of present.

         20                 COMMISSIONER POLONETSKY: Well, we

         21  like licensing when it is appropriate --

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER SABINI: When you had

         23  it.

         24                 COMMISSIONER POLONETSKY: We eagerly

         25  seek the opportunity to license tobacco retailers,
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          2  for instance.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER SABINI: Right.

          4                 COMMISSIONER POLONETSKY: And that is

          5  because they are fortunately or unfortunately, you

          6  know, a relatively movable bunch, once the license

          7  is gone there is another license there, it takes

          8  little effort to --

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER SABINI: It is

         10  something that I wouldn't be for.

         11                 So, anyway my point is, on that

         12  backdrop, and I understand we are not going to have

         13  an agreement on the concept, and I am not on this

         14  bill, but the Department has opposed by bills to

         15  license other things in the past and so we have that

         16  backdrop, so let me just get information from you to

         17  sort of determine where we go now.

         18                 Under your predecessor's testimony in

         19  1997, there was the talk of three lawsuits that the

         20  Department initiated - Credit Express, an

         21  out-of-town company, Casa Casa and Carey Furniture,

         22  both of which were New York-based companies - are

         23  these companies doing business now either under

         24  those names or under other names?

         25                 COMMISSIONER POLONETSKY: I would have
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          2  to check that.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER SABINI: Because in the

          4  past and with other industries, obviously one of the

          5  problems has always been folks change their name,

          6  change their look and yet the practices continue and

          7  that is really where the consumer ultimately

          8  suffers.

          9                 Do you currently have any lawsuits

         10  against furniture dealers or appliance dealers?

         11                 COMMISSIONER POLONETSKY: We certainly

         12  have written violations. I don't believe we have any

         13  court actions, but we certainly have written a

         14  substantial number of violations against furniture

         15  stores. There have been to date through May 387

         16  complaints against furniture stores and a good

         17  number of those resulted in Consumer Protection Law

         18  violations. In the major of the cases the stores

         19  paid those violations. We don't currently have any

         20  store that for instance has run up a huge number of

         21  complaints where we would take court action on

         22  behalf of a group of consumers.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER SABINI: The Chair's

         24  bill doesn't address the issue of mattresses and

         25  bedding, and both anecdotally and by observance
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          2  there is a strip of stores in my district that we

          3  have helped slowly put out of business because they

          4  thrived on displaying mattresses in the street. The

          5  Transportation Committee a number of years ago

          6  passed a zero sidewalk display bill that prevented

          7  them from doing this on a busy part of Queens

          8  Boulevard. But just anecdotally, the mattress

          9  business with the telemarking aspect of it,

         10  1-800-MATTRES, Sleepy's is in the telephone business

         11  as well, and they often offer you the opportunity to

         12  look at options and compare prices but it is my

         13  experience and other consumers experience that it is

         14  almost impossible to compare the prices of

         15  mattresses because a large manufacturer, say a Seele

         16  or something like that, might have 200 models that

         17  have virtually no difference but their name. So that

         18  you get the name and model number and you are almost

         19  on a treasure hunt to try to find that somewhere

         20  else in another store, and I am wondering, consumer

         21  complaints against mattress suppliers or bedding

         22  dealers, how do they rate in your scale of

         23  complaints about businesses?

         24                 COMMISSIONER POLONETSKY: It is in our

         25  top ten category, but there are a couple of areas
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          2  there that are growing problems. Number one is the

          3  advertising that you referred to. What we will see

          4  and what we have been writing violations to places

          5  like Rockaway bedding, as well as Sleepy's, as well

          6  as some of the others are, there will be ads

          7  promising an entire bed at a certain price, and only

          8  indirectly does one disclose that it doesn't include

          9  the box spring, for instance.

         10                 We also see stores referring to

         11  mattresses as posterpedic, even though they are not

         12  talking about Seele posterpedic.

         13                 One of the other problems in addition

         14  to advertising where we have to write a fair number

         15  of consumer protection law complaints, is the

         16  problem of people selling huge mattresses as new.

         17                 One of the things that the state law

         18  requires is that every mattress have a tag, either

         19  identifying what the materials are and it is a new

         20  mattress, or very specifically identifying the

         21  mattress as used. That is a real problem. The law

         22  doesn't require that that tag, for instance, must be

         23  a bright yellow where somebody would actually take a

         24  look and read it, and so there are consumers who buy

         25  it, having no clue they bought it --
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER SABINI: Are there any

          3  violations written on the people that rip the tag

          4  off the mattress?

          5                 COMMISSIONER POLONETSKY: Those are

          6  exactly the kind of violations where you do write

          7  for ripping the tag off because in the store --

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER SABINI: I mean,

          9  consumers have ripped the tag. I have always afraid

         10  to rip the tag off.

         11                 COMMISSIONER POLONETSKY: Right. It is

         12  not the consumer. The consumer can rip the tag, but

         13  the merchant selling the used mattress as new

         14  certainly ought not to.

         15                 One of the other problems is, even

         16  when it is sold as used, there are people who

         17  frankly for the economy want to buy a used mattress.

         18  State law frankly is now fairly lax. Selling a used

         19  mattress requires a very minimal level of minor

         20  sterilization. There have been a number of instances

         21  where those mattresses have been opened and run

         22  through a laboratory analysis and have been found to

         23  be enormously dangerous to the health of anybody who

         24  would be sleeping on there, with different viruses

         25  or insects and so forth.
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          2                 The state is currently looking, and

          3  they haven't done this frankly quickly enough --

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER SABINI: Would those be

          5  bed bugs?

          6                 COMMISSIONER POLONETSKY: Those would

          7  be bed bugs.

          8                 The state has been looking at

          9  increasing the standard that currently exists before

         10  you sell a used mattress as new, it is far too low

         11  right now and there are mattresses legally being

         12  sold as used that frankly are a health hazard.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER SABINI: I am

         14  interested that the Department sees it is a problem

         15  obviously, you probably wouldn't advocate the

         16  licensing of mattress dealers either, but --

         17                 COMMISSIONER POLONETSKY: We do see it

         18  as a problem from the advertising point of view and

         19  see it as a problem in terms of stores that are

         20  selling these used ones as new without the tag being

         21  adequately disclosed.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER SABINI: Thank you.

         23                 Thank you, Madam Chair.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON KOSLOWITZ: I just want to

         25  say, I never lived in a house that had a mattress
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          2  that didn't have a tag on it.

          3                 Council Member Robinson has a

          4  question, but she had to go next door to vote, so I

          5  guess can you just stay a few minutes until she

          6  comes back and I will call the next --

          7                 COMMISSIONER POLONETSKY: Maybe

          8  Councilman Lasher wants to tell a joke? No.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON KOSLOWITZ: Maybe I will

         10  just ask, major appliances, do you get a lot of

         11  complaints for major appliances?

         12                 COMMISSIONER POLONETSKY: We had a

         13  problem last year with the major appliance repair

         14  people, frankly, who were holding themselves out as

         15  authorized reps of, you know, Maytag or other major

         16  locations, and were not licensed, and so we took

         17  some enforcement action last year against a number

         18  of people and I think that is something where we

         19  need to continue our enforcement. But the issues for

         20  major appliance dealers are similar to furniture.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON KOSLOWITZ: Not delivery?

         22                 COMMISSIONER POLONETSKY: Similar, in

         23  each case you are talking about people making a

         24  payment up front and waiting for delivery later, and

         25  so it is the same type of concern. But, frankly,
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          2  probably a good number of other areas where

          3  similarly people put down large amounts of money and

          4  an item doesn't show up or it is the wrong item

          5  where it does indeed show up and so I don't know

          6  that we would want to license every single business

          7  where you pay a lot of money up front.

          8                 I think the Department already has

          9  the authority when the delivery doesn't take place

         10  in a proper way or the item is defective, to take

         11  action against those stores.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON KOSLOWITZ: Council Member

         13  Robinson.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER ROBINSON: Thank you

         15  very much, Chairwoman Koslowitz.

         16                 When the letter was read by the

         17  Counsel, I thought it was describing what had

         18  happened to one of my former staff persons, with the

         19  same company. It was about a couch and she went

         20  through the same horror. I just want to put that on

         21  the record that there is a problem with some of the

         22  companies that continue to say they are going to

         23  deliver and they don't.

         24                 My question goes to, and Council

         25  Member Sabini began to raise the question of the
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          2  mattresses, I would like to talk about the used

          3  furniture. What are the rules and regulations

          4  governing used furniture that people place out on

          5  the street for sale? What are the rules and regs

          6  governing that?

          7                 COMMISSIONER POLONETSKY: Anybody who

          8  sells a used anything needs to have a second-hand

          9  dealers license, because the issues that arise when

         10  you sell used items are obviously is the item

         11  stolen, and so people who sell used items need to

         12  maintain a certain level of documentation as to

         13  where they got the item, they have to have held the

         14  item and the records of it for a number of days,

         15  obviously. Clearly, used car dealers, one concern is

         16  that car didn't come off the street.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER ROBINSON: I am talking

         18  about furniture, the same thing applies?

         19                 COMMISSIONER POLONETSKY: Anything you

         20  sell, a used item, we are concerned about a number

         21  of things. We are concerned about where the item

         22  came from, do you legitimately have it. We are

         23  concerned about the condition of the item. Obviously

         24  if you are selling used items there can be a greater

         25  degree of concern about does the item live up to
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          2  what you warrant it is, and so they would have to

          3  have a valid second-hand dealers license. For

          4  instance, if someone sold used furniture now, they

          5  would already be a licensee of ours, not because

          6  they are a furniture store, but because they are a

          7  used furniture store. So we would already be able to

          8  deal with all of the issues the Committee intends us

          9  to be able to respond to.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER ROBINSON: I guess you

         11  are backing into what the general discussion is. If

         12  they have to have a license for, to display and to

         13  sell second-hand furniture, then why aren't we

         14  considering licensing those who sell new furniture?

         15                 COMMISSIONER POLONETSKY: Well, the

         16  reason we license people who sell used any things

         17  (sic) is because there is an inherent problem. There

         18  is a concern about where did the item come from, and

         19  there are obviously a greater degree of concerns

         20  about the quality and the caliber of the item where

         21  there can be problems.

         22                 Furnished stores or any other

         23  business, frankly, that sells an item shouldn't need

         24  a license just because they happen to exist. I think

         25  the businesses that need licenses are ones where the
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          2  Department needs the extraordinary ability to be

          3  able to come in and padlock the location. The

          4  licensed cabaret, because if the location is

          5  hazardous, you don't want us in court discussing

          6  what we think about the licensing law, we want to be

          7  able to padlock the front door, have a hearing

          8  afterwards, but not leave an opportunity for a fire

          9  or a rear exit to be closed if someone is having a

         10  loud, huge party with too many people in a premises

         11  in somebody's basement.

         12                 We license electronic stores because

         13  unfortunately there has been a history of some

         14  stores at the low end of this business routinely

         15  ripping off tourists, ripping off New Yorkers by

         16  selling refurbished computers, new and so forth.

         17                 We don't have that level, I think, of

         18  abuse in the furniture industry. We do have a

         19  significant level of concern when it comes to

         20  electronic stores. We have a significant level of

         21  concern when it comes to used card dealers, where

         22  obviously there is just a host of problems that

         23  arise. Obviously we license vendors, we enforce the

         24  zoning law with some of our licensing. I don't think

         25  many of the issues that are around for many of our
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          2  other categories are present when it comes to

          3  furniture stores. To the extent that they are used,

          4  they are already part of our licensing audience. I

          5  think that we can respond to the kind of concerns

          6  that happen to your staff member, as well as the one

          7  that was raised, with the jurisdiction we have now.

          8  I can't padlock the store, but I certainly can issue

          9  a violation. I certainly, if you gave us hearing

         10  authority, would be able to take a judgment that one

         11  of our judges has and go right into court with it

         12  and get a marshal's order to go and take the money

         13  out of the store's register.

         14                 So, I think we can do a little more

         15  than we are doing now with hearing authority,

         16  without making every single one of the furniture

         17  stores in this City go through an entire licensing

         18  process at the Department.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER ROBINSON: Thank you.

         20                 COMMISSIONER POLONETSKY: Thank you

         21  for the opportunity.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON KOSLOWITZ: Thank you.

         23                 I would like to call Heather Kiss,

         24  and I am going to call Brian Rauer, from the Better

         25  Business Bureau.
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          2                 Heather, would you like to tell us

          3  your story?

          4                 MS. KISS: My name is Heather Kiss. On

          5  December 11th I went to buy an armoire, with

          6  adjustable shelves and white at Versais Furniture

          7  Store (phonetic) in Long Island City. I went in and

          8  I looked through the catalog and I was told that the

          9  item that I picked out had adjustable shelves, so I

         10  purchased that along with a couch.

         11                 Since I purchased both items the

         12  owner gave me a discount, I paid only $250 for the

         13  armoire, and the $400 for the couch. I was promised

         14  delivery that Wednesday, and that Wednesday came and

         15  I didn't have delivery. I called them up and they

         16  gave me another delivery date.

         17                 The next date the furniture came but

         18  the shelves weren't adjustable. So I spoke with the

         19  owner and he said, okay, come down to the store, you

         20  can look through the catalog and order two more

         21  armoires, which will be delivered to the store, you

         22  can pick the one that you like and then we will

         23  deliver it to you.

         24                 It took about two weeks and the

         25  furniture never came to the store. I called, they
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          2  gave me run-around stories, the company was on

          3  vacation, it came to the store in the wrong color.

          4  So finally they told me that it came to the store. I

          5  went down there, I spoke with the salesman and he

          6  couldn't find it anywhere in the store, he told me

          7  it wasn't there. So there were boxes, like of

          8  furniture that was still in the boxes, so I said

          9  maybe it is in one of these boxes, he told me no.

         10  So, I went home. The next day I talked to the owner

         11  of the store, I went down the next day and he said

         12  your furniture was here yesterday but the salesman

         13  just didn't know where to look. So, he opened the

         14  box and once again the shelves were not adjustable.

         15                 So at this time it was one month

         16  since I originally went into the store to order the

         17  armoire. So, already I was frustrated so I told him

         18  I would like my money back for the armoire of $250.

         19  He said that he was unable to do that because since

         20  I bought it with the couch he gave me a special

         21  deal.

         22                 So, I said, okay, take back the

         23  couch, keep the armoire and give me all my money

         24  back. He said, no, I can't do that because there is

         25  nothing wrong with the couch. I said, yes, there is

             Legal-Ease Court Reporting Services, Inc. (800) 756-3410

                                                            42

          1  COMMITTEE ON CONSUMER AFFAIRS

          2  nothing wrong with the couch, but you won't give me

          3  my money back for the one piece, so just take

          4  everything back and give me my whole money back. So,

          5  he kept saying, no, no, there is nothing wrong with

          6  the couch, I can't do that. So, what ended up

          7  happening was I was forced to order another armoir.

          8  So, I looked through the catalog and this time I

          9  made him sign that if it wasn't delivered when he

         10  said, which was seven days, if it wasn't white and

         11  if the shelves weren't adjustable, that he would

         12  give me my money back for the armoir, $250.

         13                 So, the delivery date came, and this

         14  was now the end of January, the delivery date came,

         15  of course it wasn't delivered, there was no phone

         16  call. So, I called him back and he said he would

         17  deliver it the next day. I said, okay. So the next

         18  day came, he delivered it, but it was pink and

         19  white. It was pink and white, so I told him to take

         20  everything back and I would go down, I believe this

         21  was a Sunday, I would go down the next morning to

         22  get my money back. So, I went down the next morning

         23  and he wrote me out a check. And while I was in the

         24  furniture store I overheard him talking to his bank

         25  that he was having a lot of problems, and I asked
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          2  him is this check good? He said for a big company of

          3  course the check is good. So I took the check and

          4  before I cashed it I called up his bank to make sure

          5  the check was good and they told me that it was no

          6  good. So, I called him back and told him, you know,

          7  I called your bank and they said your check was no

          8  good. He said, no, my check is good, we have a line

          9  of credit. So, I said, okay, so I called his bank

         10  once again. He doesn't have a line of credit there.

         11  So, at this time I was lucky enough to call Karen

         12  Koslowitz and her attorney Matt was able to call him

         13  and kept calling him, and he also told Matt that the

         14  check was good. So, I told him that if I cash the

         15  check and it is no good, will you pay for the

         16  bounced check fee? So he said yes, so of course I

         17  cashed the check and it was no good. So, the check

         18  bounced and I went down and at the end of February,

         19  February 18th, finally I was able to get my money

         20  back for the armoir, after such hassle and

         21  frustration.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON KOSLOWITZ: How long did

         23  this whole thing take?

         24                 MS. KISS: December 11th until about

         25  the 20th of February.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON KOSLOWITZ: A long time.

          3                 MS. KISS: About two, three months.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON KOSLOWITZ: Did you ever

          5  get an armoir?

          6                 MS. KISS: I never got it.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON KOSLOWITZ: And you never

          8  got another one after that?

          9                 MS. KISS: No, no. That was enough.

         10  That was enough.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON KOSLOWITZ: Well, I guess

         12  you are a good example.

         13                 MS. KISS: There was a lot of

         14  misrepresentation. They would tell me they would be

         15  here on that day. They don't bother to call the

         16  company to find out if the shelves are adjustable.

         17  They don't see if they are on vacation if it is

         18  available, they just give you a delivery date and

         19  they really don't think like to the future.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON KOSLOWITZ: Well,

         21  sometimes people want to make a sale.

         22                 MS. KISS: Exactly. But they should

         23  know what they are selling. They shouldn't state

         24  that they have something and --

         25                 CHAIRPERSON KOSLOWITZ: Most companies
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          2  are good and they keep their word. Unfortunately

          3  there are companies such as the one you went to that

          4  wasn't so good.

          5                 Thank you very much.

          6                 MS. KISS: You are welcome.

          7                 MR. RAUER: Good afternoon.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON KOSLOWITZ: How are you?

          9                 MR. RAUER: Good.

         10                 My name is Brian Rauer, I hold a

         11  position of Deputy Counsel in charge of Dispute

         12  Resolution at the Better Business Bureau of

         13  Metropolitan New York. It serves all five boroughs

         14  in Manhattan, and through our two sister offices,

         15  Long Island and Mid-Hudson regions as well. Each

         16  year the New York BBB handles thousands of

         17  complaints through our dispute resolution services,

         18  it encompasses mediation, arbitration and

         19  conciliation. In 1998 alone, the New York Bureau

         20  mediated over 15,000 disputes.

         21                 Consumer complaints, coupled with our

         22  investigation and information supplied from

         23  government enforcement agencies, for example, the

         24  Department of Consumer Affairs, they form the basis

         25  of the BBB reports. Specifically Bureau Reliability
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          2  Reports generally contain information as to the

          3  nature of the business, its principal officers,

          4  summary of BBB advertising or viewing

          5  investigations, a listing of any relevant government

          6  action which materially calls into question the

          7  company's marketplace integrity. Also a three-year

          8  summary of any complaints processed for dispute

          9  resolution.

         10                 As the City Council is presently

         11  evaluating the potential licensing of furniture and

         12  major appliance dealers, the Better Business Bureau

         13  was requested to supply an analysis of recent

         14  complaints received by the Bureau.

         15                 The following is offered neither in

         16  support of nor in opposition to the proposed

         17  legislation. It is only a factual assessment of the

         18  New York Bureau's recent experience with the

         19  industries at issue.

         20                 Complaints relating to furniture

         21  purchases in particular, are routinely in our top

         22  ten list of most complained about industries. In

         23  1998, the New York Bureau had over 1,200 complaints,

         24  I believe it was 1,264, in the category of household

         25  and office furnishings.
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          2                 As such, this category ranked fifth

          3  among the most complained about industries at the

          4  New York Better Business Bureau in 1998.

          5                 These complaint figures I should let

          6  you know, they cover the Bureau's entire geographic

          7  area which doesn't include the Long Island and

          8  mid-Hudson regions.

          9                 To more fully understand such

         10  figures, their method of calculation warrants some

         11  discussion. The BBB category of household and office

         12  furnishes encompasses a wide array of individual

         13  complaint classifications.

         14                 For example, this category includes

         15  such classifications, among others, as carpet and

         16  rug dealers, bedding, floor coverings, upholstering,

         17  antique dealers, home furnishings, furniture

         18  repairing and refinishing and retail furniture

         19  dealers.

         20                 Accounting for 755 complaints in

         21  1998, the retail furniture dealer classification

         22  comprises the bulk of this category.

         23                 Furthermore, please note that for a

         24  period of time the New York BBB accepted national

         25  complaints against our most complained about
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          2  furniture dealer, and when I say that I mean over

          3  the past 36 months, they were the most complained

          4  about. And while a substantial portion of that

          5  single furniture dealer's 1998 complaints were not

          6  generated out-of-state, the result in overall

          7  figures have been increased accordingly.

          8                 That said, based upon a significant

          9  sampling generated by the New York BBB, furniture

         10  complaints may be classified in the following

         11  manner. I will do it by type of complaint and a

         12  percentage of total furniture complaints.

         13                 The defective or damaged merchandise

         14  accounted for 47.5 percent of the total furniture

         15  complaints. Non-delivery was 24.2 percent.

         16  Miscellaneous other was 10.1 percent.

         17  Misrepresentation was 7.1 percent, credit of billing

         18  was 7.1 percent, failure to provide service was

         19  three percent and failure to provide promised

         20  adjustment was one percent.

         21                 As the issue at hand involves

         22  potential licensing of furniture dealers within the

         23  City of New York, we specifically examined the

         24  disposition rate for 1998 New York BBB furniture

         25  complaints involving only New York City furniture
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          2  dealers.

          3                 I will do it by resolution and

          4  disposition percentage. Full adjustment -- and when

          5  I say full adjustment I mean that what the consumer

          6  requested the business aceded to, they granted that.

          7  That was 47.6 percent. Partial adjustment was 6.1

          8  percent. If the company disputed the claim, that is

          9  20.4 percent. If they simply didn't respond, if

         10  there was no response by the company, that was 16.6

         11  percent. Of if it was not mediated, it may be

         12  outside of our purview, something of that nature,

         13  that was 9.2 percent.

         14                 With regard to New York BBB

         15  complaints involving major appliances, the figures

         16  are far less substantial. Once again, to preface the

         17  statistics, I am discussing if there is note that

         18  the New York Bureau's major appliance category

         19  diverges from the definition supplied in the

         20  proposed legislation in certain respects. Within the

         21  BBB's category are the following individual

         22  complaint classifications: Appliance warrantees,

         23  major household appliance dealers; major household

         24  appliance service and repair; dish-washing machine

         25  service and repair, range and oven dealers; ranges
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          2  and oven service and repair; refrigeration equipment

          3  and repair; refrigerators and freezers, dealers and

          4  service; and washing machines and dryers.

          5                 In 1998 there were 190 total New York

          6  BBB complaints in the major appliance category. New

          7  York City complaints, among others, included

          8  defective or damaged merchandise, failure to provide

          9  service and credit or billing.

         10                 We also understand that the City

         11  Council is considering the issue of department

         12  stores that sell furniture. With regard to New York

         13  City department stores that sell furniture as well,

         14  the BBB is unfortunately presently limited to

         15  providing you with the previously calculated figures

         16  from 1996 rather than for 1998.

         17                 The New York BBB did, I believe,

         18  however, note the following in its 1997 testimony to

         19  the City Council, that was through Ron Brown, the

         20  President of the Better Business Bureau.

         21                 Of the New York City furniture

         22  complaints received by the Bureau in 1996, it was

         23  estimated that those received by Department stores

         24  represented less than four percent of the total

         25  number of furniture complaints.
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          2                 It has been my pleasure to provide

          3  you with this information. Thank you.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON KOSLOWITZ: Do you think

          5  that licensing would make it easy to resolve these

          6  complaints?

          7                 MR. RAUER: I am in an interesting

          8  position, since I can't actually support the

          9  legislation, and I am not here against the

         10  legislation either, obviously I think that

         11  Commissioner Polonetsky would probably be, is much

         12  more appropriate to obviously answer that question.

         13  I really can't take the position in that aspect.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON KOSLOWITZ: Out of the

         15  complaints that you do receive, the department

         16  stores, they are less, I believe you just --

         17                 MR. RAUER: Again, those figures are

         18  several years old, but it was estimated that they

         19  did represent a fairly small percentage, I believe

         20  it was less than four percent of the furniture

         21  complaint.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON KOSLOWITZ: Thank you very

         23  much.

         24                 MR. RAUER: Thank you.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON KOSLOWITZ: Oh, I am
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          2  sorry. Council Member Sabini.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER SABINI: Thank you,

          4  Madam Chair.

          5                 I just wanted to ask Mr. Rauer, where

          6  dealers of bedding and mattresses fall under your

          7  list of complaints about businesses?

          8                 MR. RAUER: As I did mention,

          9  obviously we do include that among the household and

         10  office furnishing --

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER SABINI: But I mean if

         12  you separate that out.

         13                 MR. RAUER: Right. We do actually have

         14  a number of classifications, and within that I

         15  believe -- yes, under mattresses and bedding for the

         16  total 1998 complaints, I believe we had accounted

         17  79, which in the obviously it was as I mentioned

         18  dominated by one particular category which was

         19  retail furniture dealers, but among the many others,

         20  this was one of the more significant categories in

         21  terms of the numbers, a number of 79.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER SABINI: And are some

         23  of those complaints filed against businesses that do

         24  business from outside the City into the City, or are

         25  they all New York City-based do you think?
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          2                 MR. RAUER: In terms of the way we

          3  calculate our figures on our top ten list, they do,

          4  it does comprise the boroughs that we serve and also

          5  it could be Long Island and it could be the

          6  mid-Hudson region as well, so it is really hard to

          7  say exactly the percentage --

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER SABINI: The origin of

          9  the complaint or the business --

         10                 MR. RAUER: Well, what we do in terms

         11  of the geographic area that we cover, it is based on

         12  where the business itself is located. It could be a

         13  consumer that is in New Jersey or out-of-state or

         14  out of the City, but it is based where the business

         15  is located.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER SABINI: Thank you.

         17                 Thank you, Madam Chair.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON KOSLOWITZ: Thank you very

         19  much.

         20                 MR. RAUER: Thank you.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON KOSLOWITZ: I would like

         22  to call Donald Halperin.

         23                 MR. HALPERIN: Chairperson Koslowitz,

         24  and other members of the Committee, I am pleased to

         25  have the opportunity to testify before you today on
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          2  behalf of the New York Metropolitan Retail

          3  Association alternatively known as NYMRA, a trade

          4  association consisting of national chain retailers,

          5  including Bloomingdales, Circuit City, Home Depot,

          6  JC Penny, K-Mart, Lord and Taylor, Macy's, Sachs

          7  Fifth Avenue, Sears and Stearns.

          8                 NYMRA well understands the

          9  frustration that may face consumers who order

         10  furniture or major appliances and find that the

         11  promised delivery is delayed or that the delivery

         12  never occurs, or that the item when delivered is not

         13  what it is supposed to be or damaged.

         14                 Nevertheless, we must take issue with

         15  a portion of the legislative declaration which

         16  proclaims that those who sell furniture and major

         17  appliances routinely fail to comply with consumer

         18  protection law regarding refunds of deposits on

         19  undelivered merchandise.

         20                 While even the best intentioned and

         21  most competent retailers are capable of occasional

         22  error, NYMRA's members do not engage in the types of

         23  practices which are the target of this legislation.

         24  The use of the term routinely failed to comply

         25  implies a common industry-wide practice which just
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          2  does not exist.

          3                 That brings us to a basic question

          4  which arises with issues of this nature. How far

          5  should government go in opposing regulations on an

          6  entire industry when only some of the actors in that

          7  industry are bad players.

          8                 As part of that question, special

          9  attention should be given to the issue of the degree

         10  to which each of the elements of the proposed

         11  solution are necessary to combat the identified

         12  problem. Policy-makers should examine and define the

         13  problem and then measure the balance between the

         14  protections being afforded as compared to the cost

         15  of regulation not only to responsible retailers, but

         16  the cost to consumers in increased prices resulting

         17  from the additional expense of burdensome

         18  regulation.

         19                 Hopefully we can agree that

         20  unnecessary superfluous regulations could be

         21  avoided. In short, the most restricted approach

         22  should be followed, not the most restrictive

         23  approach.

         24                 In the bill's legislative

         25  declaration, the sponsor points to the defective and
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          2  damaged merchandise, the late or non-delivery of

          3  ordered goods, and the failure of those who sell

          4  these items to refund deposits as required by City

          5  and State Laws as the targets of the legislation.

          6                 Yet, the provisions of the

          7  legislation go way beyond the attempted regulation

          8  of these stated targeted problems by imposing a

          9  comprehensive licensing system upon a major segment

         10  of the retail industry in New York City and

         11  providing for the revocation of these licenses for

         12  activities which have nothing to do with the

         13  delivery of ordered merchandise.

         14                 In essence, the City Council would be

         15  subjecting a very large portion of the hard goods

         16  retail industry in New York City to a type of

         17  regulation from which much of the remainder of the

         18  retail industry would be free, simply because these

         19  stores happen to deal with furniture or major

         20  appliances.

         21                 One interpretation of the proposal

         22  would permit the denial of a license for violations

         23  of Section 20-555, which have no relationship to

         24  furniture or major appliances. Even stores, such as

         25  department stores for which the covered items are
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          2  but a small portion of total sales will be subject

          3  to these far-reaching regulatory strictures. I will

          4  discuss the department store exemption later in my

          5  testimony.

          6                 The comprehensive licensing system on

          7  its face might seem like a cure-all for consumer

          8  problems, there is a downside to the imposition of

          9  such a system, particularly on such a widespread

         10  basis as proposed by this legislation.

         11                 Unless one proceeds with the theory

         12  that every nature of commercial retail intercourse

         13  should be licensed by government, a premise that few

         14  accept, the notion of selective licensing carries

         15  with it certain implications for the marketplace and

         16  the consumer.

         17                 Indeed, the imprimatur of official

         18  approval in the form of a license as embodied in an

         19  official-looking document issued by a governmental

         20  agency, conveys to some degree a signal to consumers

         21  that government is protecting you so you need not

         22  protect yourself. This is not a healthy signal to be

         23  sending out to the consuming public, particularly

         24  because his licensing becomes more common and

         25  diffuse it cannot afford the same protection as a
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          2  more focused system.

          3                 A licensing system is not in all ways

          4  the consumer's friend. The myriad of requirements

          5  and obligations embodied in the licensing system

          6  acts as a barrier of entry into the area of commerce

          7  covered by the license.

          8                 As a result, competition will be

          9  reduced. It is for this reason that the federal

         10  Trade Commission over time expressed concern

         11  regarding the overreliance upon licensing. Not only

         12  does such a barrier to entry deny consumers

         13  potential sources of merchandise, but it would

         14  prevent numerous potential start-up businesses from

         15  entering a marketplace, many of which might be

         16  minority owned.

         17                 Moreover, a licensing system by

         18  necessity carries with it a financial cost. The

         19  direct cost to the licensing agency of administering

         20  the proposal must be borne either by the taxpayer or

         21  the cost is to be passed on to the licensee by fees,

         22  then by that licensee and its customer.

         23                 There is also a cost of

         24  administration imposed upon the licensee, all of

         25  which will take the form of higher prices to the
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          2  consumer.

          3                 Unless there are substantial benefits

          4  to be realized from a licensing system, which

          5  outweigh the economic cost, as well as other

          6  negative consequences, such as trivializing the

          7  concept of licensure, then expanding the City's

          8  licensing system should be avoided.

          9                 This is particularly true when

         10  alternative effective means exist to deal with the

         11  well-defined and limited problem. There is no

         12  question that some consumers experience frustrating

         13  practices engaged in by some retailers on a regular

         14  basis. Yet, no one, at least no one that I know is

         15  suggesting that every retailer of every type of item

         16  be required to be licensed in order to sell in the

         17  City of New York. Intro. 540 would take us a long

         18  way in that direction.

         19                 NYMRA strongly challenges the need

         20  for this type of comprehensive licensure to deal

         21  with the identified problem. We believe that by more

         22  effective enforcement of existing laws, perhaps with

         23  the strengthening of certain provisions, and

         24  Commissioner Polonetsky just testified as to that,

         25  consumers can be adequately protected.
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          2                 If, however, the Council concludes

          3  that some type of legislation is needed in this

          4  area, we suggest that a target rifle be used instead

          5  of a cluster bomb. If the idea is to cause those

          6  retailers who deliver furniture and major appliances

          7  to act more responsibly and to provide some type of

          8  financial protection for those consumers who may

          9  become victimized, then draft legislation that does

         10  only that.

         11                 One suggestion we have is to require

         12  bonding only from those retailers who have a poor

         13  record when it comes to deliveries. A procedure

         14  could be established whereby furniture and major

         15  appliance dealers have to establish their good guy

         16  status in order to avoid securing a bond. The

         17  Department of Consumer Affairs could be invested

         18  with the authority to make that determination. If

         19  bonding were to be required, the bonding company

         20  would in effect serve as a monitor of the bonafides

         21  of such retailers. Bonds would be issued based upon

         22  a risk assessment as determined by the insurer and

         23  so companies with a poor record would either not be

         24  able to secure a bond or would have to pay a higher

         25  price. In this way we can avoid the unhealthy
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          2  situation of responsible retailers paying for the

          3  misdeeds of their wayward competitors.

          4                 Those retailers who are unable to

          5  secure a bond could be barred from doing business in

          6  the City of New York. An entire licensing structure

          7  would not be necessary to protect consumers. Instead

          8  of approaching the identified problem from a

          9  licensing approach, you could approach it from a

         10  prohibition approach. The right to operate a covered

         11  business would be determined by the ability to

         12  secure a bond or the alternative to pay into a fund,

         13  but only after an affirmed finding by DCA based upon

         14  the retailer's history in business.

         15                 In addition to the more general

         16  comments I just shared with you, I would like to

         17  make some observations regarding a current form of

         18  the legislation.

         19                 Prior to -- the prior version of this

         20  legislation did not require the licensing of stores

         21  in which less than 20 percent of the floor space was

         22  devoted to the display of furniture or major

         23  appliances. A similar provision exists in the

         24  current New York City electronics store licensing

         25  law. The rationale behind this type of exemption
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          2  commonly referred to as the Department store

          3  exemption, is that there have been relatively few

          4  complaints filed against the Department stores.

          5                 Historically the Department of

          6  Consumer Affairs' data supports this fact and we

          7  heard from the Better Business Bureau that less than

          8  four percent of the complaints are attributable to

          9  Department stores.

         10                 If the current proposal were to go

         11  forward it should include the Department store

         12  exemption. Support for this exemption is further

         13  justified because department stores generally have a

         14  very sophisticated consumer relations program, when

         15  complaints are brought, they are resolved in the

         16  vast majority of cases to the consumer's

         17  satisfaction.

         18                 While Intro. 540 is intended to avoid

         19  delays in delivery, Section 20-557(d) further delays

         20  the delivery that must be rescheduled by requiring

         21  notice to the consumer of the revised delivery date

         22  to be in writing.

         23                 We understand that such written

         24  notification is already required by 6RCNY 5-50, but

         25  urge you to consider revision of your approach in
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          2  light of current practice common to other

          3  jurisdictions which is designed to assist the

          4  consumer.

          5                 In the rare case when a promised

          6  delivery date cannot be met a NYMRA member, the

          7  customer is called immediately and the delivery

          8  rearranged for the next day. This is over the phone.

          9  By requiring the retailer to send a written notice,

         10  the customer would be forced by a licensing proposal

         11  to wait a number of days before he or she could

         12  arrange for a new delivery date.

         13                 We fail to see how this requirement

         14  would help the consumer receive his or her

         15  merchandise in a more timely manner. We believe it

         16  would only cause further delay and add to consumer

         17  frustration.

         18                 There is an exclusion from coverage

         19  legislation currently found in Section 20-551 for

         20  any dealer who exclusively sells furniture from

         21  stock in the possession of such dealer at the time

         22  of such sale.

         23                 Given the intent of the legislation,

         24  it would seem to make no difference whether

         25  furniture is or is not in stock, the operative
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          2  factor should be whether or not the furniture is to

          3  be delivered, as opposed to being removed from the

          4  premises by the purchaser.

          5                 While Section 20-554 establishes the

          6  requirement of the bond or in the alternative

          7  payment into the fund, the legislation leaves broad

          8  discretion as to the conditions under which either

          9  the bond or fund would be accessed in order to help

         10  remedy the grievances of a consumer.

         11                 Moreover, there is no direction on

         12  how the level of contribution is to be determined,

         13  nor is there any cap imposed upon the level of

         14  contribution to the alternative funds.

         15                 We believe additional legislative

         16  guidance in these areas would prove valuable.

         17                 Section 20-555(c) would allow

         18  suspension or revocation of a license when a court

         19  has found that the licensee has failed to perform

         20  under any express or implied warrantees. This

         21  provision is currently not included in New York's

         22  licensing statute for electronics dealers.

         23                 Aside from the fact that this

         24  provision has nothing to do with the stated purpose

         25  of the legislation, it would have an unintended
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          2  negative consequence to the consumer.

          3                 Often in a dispute with the customer

          4  over a warranty, in order to maintain customer

          5  relations or to avoid high cost of having to defend

          6  the allegations in court, compared to paying a small

          7  damage award, the retailer may enter into a consent

          8  judgment, or when the case proceeds in Small Claims

          9  Court simply not dispute the allegations.

         10                 However, if a retailers license to

         11  operate were to be threatened by an adverse finding,

         12  the dealer would be compelled to aggressively defend

         13  even the smallest claim, by harding the position of

         14  the retailer, the consumer would be disadvantaged.

         15                 NYMRA and its members stand ready to

         16  work with the Council to devise and refine a more

         17  limited and appropriate approach to the problems you

         18  are seeking to address.

         19                 Thank you very much.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON KOSLOWITZ: Thank you. And

         21  I look forward to sitting down with you.

         22                 I have one question. Do you think it

         23  is unfair to ask that once you know there is going

         24  to be a significant delay in the delivery of an

         25  order, that you either renegotiate a new delivery
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          2  date, offer other merchandise to a customer or offer

          3  a refund?

          4                 MR. HALPERIN: No. It is as I say,

          5  what many NYMRA members do is, when there is a delay

          6  in delivery they call to immediately arrange for a

          7  new delivery date, and obviously even according to

          8  existing law, those deliveries cannot be rearranged

          9  within a period of time, then the customer has the

         10  right to cancel. That is an existing law, and the

         11  state law, and the general business law and I

         12  believe in the City regulations as well. But I know

         13  it is in the general business law.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON KOSLOWITZ: And would you

         15  prefer us giving DCA the broad power to conduct

         16  hearings on all consumer protection laws to the

         17  licensing of this bill?

         18                 MR. HALPERIN: This is not something

         19  that I have discussed with my clients, and have the

         20  authority to speak on. I can check into that and see

         21  how they react to that.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON KOSLOWITZ: Thank you very

         23  much. I look forward to working with you.

         24                 MR. HALPERIN: Thank you.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON KOSLOWITZ: I would like
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          2  to call Robert Dryfoos, William Spink and Susan

          3  Aiello.

          4                 MR. DRYFOOS: Thank you very much,

          5  Chairwoman Koslowitz, members of the Council of the

          6  Consumer Affairs Committee. I represent the American

          7  Society of Inferior Designers Metro Region, and I am

          8  sitting with our president, Susan Aiello.

          9                 Susan Aiello, in addition to being

         10  the chapter's president is a practitioner in the

         11  field of interior design. The chapter has over 1,200

         12  members, most of whom are design practitioners. She

         13  is an affiliated member of AIA, the American

         14  Institute of Architects and an active member of its

         15  interior committee. She is also certified by the

         16  State interior designer, a lecturer and a writer in

         17  the field.

         18                 Mr. Spink, who is vice president of

         19  the Interior Design for Legislation in New York and

         20  a member of the Board of the New York Metropolitan

         21  Chapter of the American Society of Interior

         22  Designers, among other things, was here to speak to

         23  the point we are going to make but he could not

         24  stay.

         25                 Other interior designers who are
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          2  members of the organization are here in their own

          3  capacity and will be called later by the chair.

          4                 Before presenting Ms. Aiello to you,

          5  our position is a very limited one with respect to

          6  the bill. The American Society has been a long time

          7  supporter of consumer protection legislation in this

          8  field, protection for the uneducated consumer from

          9  the unethical business practitioner.

         10                 But what we are here to argue to you

         11  today is that in Intro. 540 the definition contained

         12  in 2550 the word person is unnecessarily broad and

         13  should be made plain to exclude professional

         14  designers, certified interior designers and

         15  businesses that fell only to the trade.

         16                 They may already be implicitly

         17  excluded. They work through contract, as Susan

         18  Aiello will talk to you about, but it should be

         19  clear that they should not be part of this type of

         20  legislation because the consumer is not an

         21  uneducated person.

         22                 Ms. Aiello.

         23                 MS. AIELLO: We understand quite

         24  clearly at this point I think that the purpose of

         25  this legislation, which I don't think anyone could
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          2  argue about is to protect unsophisticated consumers

          3  against people who practice business in a very

          4  unethical way, and clearly we are in support of

          5  that.

          6                 However, we think that the way in

          7  which this legislation currently reads, it is

          8  covering a class of professionals that I don't think

          9  it was really the intent of the people who drafted

         10  it were to cover us and that is the professional

         11  interior designers.

         12                 Professional interior designers, when

         13  they come to purchasing furniture and draperies and

         14  rugs and things, there are showrooms that will only

         15  sell to us, they require a purchase order from the

         16  interior designer in order to have the transfer of

         17  property from the trade only source to the consumer.

         18  While we do have a contractual relationship clearly

         19  defined in each of our own clients, we are required

         20  to purchase for them. The monies go through our

         21  account and even in the case where the money does

         22  not directly go through our account because the

         23  vendor holds us accountable for the balance due, we

         24  are in the middle here and we certainly do not want

         25  to be.
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          2                 The advantages of working with an

          3  interior designer and the purpose for working with

          4  an interior designer are precisely to avoid costly

          5  mistakes, to make sure you get exactly what you

          6  ordered and that lady who had the problem with

          7  Jennifer Convertible, that is half of my life,

          8  trying to make sure that things get delivered on

          9  time. That is my job. That is part of my job

         10  description. I will be happy to give you a card. It

         11  is really frightening. Literally what I do is spend

         12  an awful lot of time tracking, that the fabric was

         13  sent, was actually sent out from the mill, that it

         14  actually arrived at the place that it is going to be

         15  Scotch-guarded and it was actually sent from the

         16  place where it is being Scotch-guarded to the place

         17  that is fabricating the chair, that the chair is not

         18  having delays in and of itself, it is being put on

         19  the truck, that the truck does not have delays, that

         20  the second truck does not have delays, because very

         21  often their common carrier, and then on-site to make

         22  sure there are no rips, tears, et cetera. So, it is

         23  complicated and perhaps it is the shipping industry

         24  and the trucking industry that should be regulated a

         25  little better.
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          2                 There are various ways to tell, as I

          3  said, we are in favor of consumer protection. We

          4  have been actively lobbying in favor of consumer

          5  protection, and we feel that one thing that is a

          6  problem, at least in our field, which might not

          7  relate to the people who hold themselves out as

          8  designers who maybe might not be, but people we

          9  would like excluded from this are not just anyone

         10  who has a store and says, okay, I sell refrigerators

         11  and I am an interior designer, because I have

         12  printed up this card, there are specific things you

         13  could look for and I handed out a couple of my own

         14  proofs in that package. One is I hold a certificate

         15  to practice interior design from the State of New

         16  York, and I imagine that if I did something very

         17  unethical, that the state would take away that

         18  certificate.

         19                 The second level, but not all

         20  designers necessarily have that, there is a national

         21  test for certification for interior designers,

         22  before you are allowed to sit for that test you must

         23  meet a certain very stringent requirement of a

         24  combination of education and experience in order to

         25  even sit for that test, and it is in fact quite an
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          2  arduous test.

          3                 If a designer, each of the major

          4  trade associations which form the coalition called

          5  Interior Designers for Legislation in New York, each

          6  of those member organizations has requirements,

          7  minimum requirements for being a member and I am

          8  sure we each have a code of ethics, I don't know

          9  what the other societies have as code of ethics, but

         10  I have included in the package I have distributed a

         11  copy of the code of ethics for the American Society

         12  of Interior Designers.

         13                 Now, if we just excluded professional

         14  designers from this, my concern would be there is a

         15  second type of constituent that is a member of the

         16  American Society of Interior Designers which we call

         17  industry partners, and they are people who sell

         18  specifically only to designers. They are trade only

         19  showrooms. People like Clarence House, Brunswick,

         20  Stark, any of the ones when you look in the design

         21  magazine that says to the trade only. These people

         22  also should not be subject to this regulation as it

         23  is written in my opinion because of the concern that

         24  we would have with everything that --

         25                 CHAIRPERSON KOSLOWITZ: Do you have
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          2  written testimony that can be distributed to the

          3  public?

          4                 MR. DRYFOOS: We didn't write written

          5  testimony because we very recently learned of the

          6  hearing, to our own error. We will work with you

          7  with respect to the language.

          8                 MS. AIELLO: We would like to make

          9  sure that if this language is changed, that the onus

         10  does then not fall on some of our suppliers.

         11                 I guess I would like to explain one

         12  thing that is in that package that might be

         13  confusing without my saying anything about it.

         14                 I have a little picture of a rug,

         15  okay? This is a rug that the client executed a

         16  purchase order and gave me money for last July and

         17  this is the first rendering of the rug. She then

         18  said it had a little too much dark green, so the

         19  artist and I did a second rendering of the rug. The

         20  client herself has been going back and forth and did

         21  not get back to me until two weeks ago saying, you

         22  know, I really decided I don't like the second rug

         23  either. So, in that case if she just went to some --

         24  and she understands that she has to pay the vendor

         25  for the art work and get her refund, but she is a
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          2  lovely ethical person.

          3                 If an unethical person were in the

          4  same position, they could go to, you know, some

          5  government agency and say this woman has held my

          6  money since last July and I don't have delivery, and

          7  in fact it was caused by the fact that she could not

          8  understand the drawing or make up her mind about it

          9  for eight months.

         10                 MR. DRYFOOS: You have a contract with

         11  her, right?

         12                 MS. AIELLO: Well, my contract doesn't

         13  specifically say you have to make up your mind

         14  within a year and a half, you know?

         15                 CHAIRPERSON KOSLOWITZ: Thank you.

         16                 MR. DRYFOOS: Thank you very much.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON KOSLOWITZ: I am still

         18  waiting for Jennifer Convertible to call me back. It

         19  is about four years.

         20                 Gary Zuckerman, Jeffrey Katz, and

         21  Andrew Gans.

         22                 MR. GANS: Good afternoon, ladies and

         23  gentlemen. My name is Andrew Gans, and I am the

         24  President of the Greater New York Home Furnishing

         25  Association.
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          2                 Our association is comprised of all

          3  levels of the industry, wholesale, retail, truckers

          4  and services and support.

          5                 As president my membership is

          6  extremely concerned about this legislation and

          7  strongly urges you to reject it at this time.

          8                 We have several concerns about this

          9  proposed bill, some of the language that is written

         10  and others about the practicality of it. We have

         11  concerns about the ability of the Department of

         12  Consumer Affairs to monitor everyone selling

         13  furniture in the City. It is our opinion that the

         14  language of the law includes anyone who sells

         15  furniture to the consumer as an end-user.

         16                 Where in the bill does it state that

         17  if a bankruptcy occurs that the consumer must wait

         18  for the results of the bankruptcy court before

         19  deciding what the City is willing to pay. And how

         20  can the City interfere with a ruling of a federal

         21  court?

         22                 The bond fund for past requirement

         23  has the potential to have a crippling affect on the

         24  small retailers in our industry.

         25                 Many of these mom and pop businesses
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          2  cannot get a bond to protect themselves without an

          3  exorbitant expense. Where does it all end? When the

          4  fund runs dry the Commissioner has a right to come

          5  knocking on the door again looking for more money?

          6  The cash fund requirement seems to be a bottomless

          7  pit.

          8                 As this new law is written, there is

          9  no requirement that consumers go through the current

         10  legal process to have their cases heard.

         11                 Subsequently, payments may be made

         12  from the fund at the discretion of the commissioner

         13  or his assistants. We see this as a serious breach

         14  of the retailer's right of due process.

         15                 The furniture industry certainly has

         16  its share of problems, but the source of many of

         17  these problems extend way beyond the retailer.

         18                 Once again, we would like to

         19  volunteer the services of GNYHFA to help work with

         20  the Department to resolve any problem. The last

         21  thing we want is an upset consumer. We want the

         22  experience of purchasing home furnishings to be an

         23  enjoyable one. We want the consumer to spend more

         24  money of their disposable income on furniture.

         25                 In closing, I just would like to say
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          2  that I believe everybody in this room wants the same

          3  thing, but I truly believe this licensing law will

          4  not resolve the issues that the Department is

          5  concerned with.

          6                 It is my big fear that this law will

          7  actually hurt the vast majority of retailers in this

          8  City who operate decent, law-abiding businesses.

          9                 Thank you.

         10                 MR. KATZ: Good afternoon, ladies and

         11  gentlemen of the Committee. Thank you for letting me

         12  speak in this honor.

         13                 My name is Jeffrey Katz, and I manage

         14  a retail furniture chain operating seven stores in

         15  Brooklyn and Queens. I am also a member of the

         16  Greater New York Home Furnishing Association, a

         17  Board member.

         18                 As some of you may know, I have been

         19  active since the beginning of this legislative

         20  proposal and have had several meetings with people

         21  at the Department of Consumer Affairs, including the

         22  current commissioner, as well as the Councilwoman's

         23  staff and herself and the New York City Corporation

         24  Counsel's Office. And I have to add now that I was a

         25  little surprised when I came in this morning and
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          2  found that it was no longer the Consumer Affairs

          3  Department that was proposing this, but it had

          4  turned into your bill, so that that kind of change

          5  changes things a little bit.

          6                 Clearly, many of our objectives have

          7  been considered and there have been changes made to

          8  the original draft of the law. I would like to thank

          9  those at the Department's office for giving us their

         10  time, considering our complaints and for making some

         11  of those changes.

         12                 During this process, it had always

         13  been the aim of the Department to draft a law that

         14  was fair to all and would actually result in the

         15  successful elimination of businesses that routinely

         16  disregarded current law and basic business ethics.

         17                 However, we still have very strong

         18  doubts about the ability of this law to accomplish

         19  that goal in a fair and equitable manner. We do not

         20  believe that anyone here today would argue with the

         21  basic facts that there are many problems within the

         22  furniture business, both on the wholesale and retail

         23  levels. No one wants to hear the kinds of stories

         24  that we have heard here or that end up in the

         25  Department's office and in the court, telling us
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          2  about consumers who are taken for thousands of

          3  dollars and get either unsatisfactory service or

          4  product or even nothing at all.

          5                 We are also aware that many of the

          6  provisions here do already exist in both city and

          7  state consumer law and are ignored by some stores

          8  and individuals that sell furniture.

          9                 The key word here though is some and

         10  not all. And for this reason, and some others that I

         11  would like to bring to your attention, that we ask

         12  you to consider before voting to pass this untimely

         13  licensing law.

         14                 First of all, the industry is

         15  presently undergoing some major transformation.

         16  Fewer and fewer products are being manufactured in

         17  the United States. Many of these off-shore

         18  production changes have been influenced by the U.S.

         19  Government free trade policies. All types and all

         20  price categories of furniture are now coming from

         21  China, Holland, Indonesia, Canada and Mexico.

         22  Fluctuations in pricing, production schedules,

         23  shipping times and the availability of containers to

         24  carry goods over here have all been dramatic and can

         25  change from month-to-month.
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          2                 The United States companies have been

          3  scrambling for position and merchandise, often

          4  leaving dealers in the dark about delivery times and

          5  consistent quality. Factor out of stocks have been

          6  rampant for the past 12 months and there is no

          7  stabilization in sight.

          8                 Secondly, the number of out-of-state

          9  and Internet web site business is popping up,

         10  offering home furnishings for sale through pictures

         11  and by manufacturer and style number alone,

         12  increases every week. Many manufacturers themselves

         13  have set up their own web sites and are getting

         14  ready to go to direct distribution to the consumer.

         15                 How do we propose to regulate these

         16  sales, and how can you justify regulating one type

         17  of sales vehicle and not another, when both are

         18  competing for the same market. These are clearly

         19  changing times.

         20                 It is inconceivable to us that this

         21  licensing requirement could ever possibly be held up

         22  if it was brought before a higher court and pleased

         23  to not discount this future possibility.

         24                 In light of the problems that are

         25  apparent here, we would once again like to suggest
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          2  that the Department consider the possibility of

          3  working with local retailers perhaps through the

          4  Home Furnishings Association or the Better Business

          5  Bureau and find ways to better inform consumers

          6  before they make their purchases and resolve

          7  complaints afterwards.

          8                 We would also like to suggest that

          9  you do not consider approving this legislation.

         10                 Thank you.

         11                 MR. ZUCKERMAN: Good afternoon,

         12  Chairwoman Koslowitz and members of the Council.

         13  Thank you for letting us be here. My name is Gary

         14  Zuckerman. I had been president of the New York Home

         15  Furnishings Association for nine years, I have now

         16  been relegated to CEO status, I am not sure what

         17  that means. I wish I could say thank you, but in any

         18  event, I come from the unique position of having

         19  been the owner of a reasonably major retail

         20  establishment in New York City for close to 28

         21  years, and now I am sitting on supposedly the other

         22  side of the fence and that I represent a company of

         23  manufacturers furniture that we sell to the very

         24  people that we are here talking about.

         25                 In fact, and indeed before I forget
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          2  it, what I would like to offer to those of you still

          3  sitting in the room, the panel that you have in

          4  front of you right now, the three of us, represent a

          5  very unique broad-based dichotomy of the people that

          6  you should be directly your most difficult questions

          7  to and we would like to sit here and answer some of

          8  those questions.

          9                 We are collectively seven generations

         10  of home furnishings, retailers, and manufacturers

         11  representatives and factory people. We are the

         12  people on the firing line taking nothing away from

         13  those representing NYMRA or the Designers and so on

         14  and so forth. We are the very people who this

         15  licensing law is directed at so-to-speak, and

         16  probably we can answer some of your hardest

         17  questions in the way that we have attempted to for

         18  the past several years.

         19                 Clearly we are here to oppose the

         20  legislation for the reasons that you have heard from

         21  a variety of people, including Mr. Polonetsky. We

         22  are obviously against it for the very reason that we

         23  believe that we are addressing an issue which is not

         24  necessarily addressable by this legislation, that

         25  indeed the vast majority of the issues that are
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          2  brought before the various governing agencies are

          3  resolved and in a timely fashion.

          4                 I would go so far as to say that

          5  folks from NYMRA and the designers who represent

          6  themselves here are saying they should be excluded

          7  from the legislation, from the proposals, we would

          8  like to perhaps further suggest that the other 98

          9  percent of the retailers who have either no

         10  objections or no unresolved rejections should also

         11  be excluded from the proposed legislation, because

         12  they fall into the same categories of those of NYMRA

         13  and those of the designers.

         14                 What we are saying in effect is, this

         15  is an attempt to legislate something that is already

         16  the vehicles and the methodology to resolve most of

         17  these issues already on the books and there is a

         18  functioning mechanism to take care of these things.

         19  And on top of that you have organizations, be it

         20  designers organizations, or the New York Home

         21  Furnishings Association who are ready, willing and

         22  able and have repeatedly offered their services to

         23  help mitigate other unresolved issues.

         24                 What we are trying to do as we best

         25  understand it, is to take care of a situation that
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          2  nothing is going to take care of. There are going to

          3  be some operations, be they electronic, be they a

          4  home improvement, be they small appliances or be

          5  they home furnishings, who will never resolve issues

          6  from certain consumers.

          7                 They are probably never going to sit

          8  before you to get licensed, they are going to be to

          9  a certain extent gone before the licensing procedure

         10  ever reaches their door and then pop up some place

         11  else. But what we are saying in short is that this

         12  issue, this attempt has other avenues of

         13  resolvability that have been presented to you

         14  before.

         15                 Heather's story, as heartwarming as

         16  it is, quite frankly has seeds of resolution built

         17  into it, if we all listened to it carefully. We were

         18  not talking about a year and a half, as the area rug

         19  story was presented to you. We are not talking about

         20  a year and a half of unresolvability, we are talking

         21  about two months with several series of deliveries

         22  where someone just merely or potentially just sold

         23  and delivered something to Heather that they

         24  misrepresented but were making some attempts to

         25  resolve it, making multiple deliveries.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON KOSLOWITZ: Except I want

          3  to interrupt and say that if it wasn't for my office

          4  interfering Heather would be out the money. There is

          5  no question in my mind.

          6                 MR. ZUCKERMAN: You are talking about

          7  the end result of that.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON KOSLOWITZ: Right. But if

          9  Heather didn't call my office and try to do this on

         10  her own, not everybody knows to call my office and

         11  Heather would have been out her money. And the woman

         12  we had here, when we had testimony who was out

         13  $20,000. So there are people out there that do wind

         14  up holding the bag.

         15                 MR. ZUCKERMAN: Well, clearly we

         16  understand that in Heather's particular case, and

         17  maybe I shouldn't make her that famous by mentioning

         18  her particular case that often, but the Department

         19  of Consumer Affairs, the Better Business Bureau, and

         20  each individual Councilperson's office has forever

         21  been available to consumers who need to be -- who

         22  need assistance. And in fact, as a former retailer,

         23  I can tell you that we work with a myriad of people

         24  in helping consumers what they often times perceive

         25  to be a problem which end up not being a problem.
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          2                 Now, that in our opinion, in our

          3  experience is the vast majority of the retail base.

          4  The name Jennifer has come up in a variety of places

          5  in this particular hearing, and we know them to be a

          6  reputable forth-coming organization that deals on a

          7  first name basis with the consumers whatever the

          8  case may be. We are not suggesting that every

          9  situation is resolved but these are not people who

         10  are heading for the hills, not answering phone calls

         11  and not making attempts to resolve the issues.

         12                 They are members of our association,

         13  they didn't ask us to speak on their behalf, quite

         14  frankly we didn't know their name was going to come

         15  up in this hearing, but we are just suggesting that

         16  these are not necessarily the kind of people whose

         17  issues will be resolved ultimately by this

         18  particular legislation. Indeed the legislation, it

         19  appears to us, would only resolve issues of

         20  companies that go out of business or declare

         21  bankruptcy. Everything else has legislation already

         22  existing or teeth already existing in various

         23  statutes to deal with the issues and with the

         24  problems.

         25                 I could go on, I don't think you want
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          2  to hear me talk forever, but basically in summary we

          3  are saying that the reference to countless thousands

          4  as it was represented in the opening statements, we

          5  have already heard statistics and numbers that bear

          6  witness that the numbers are nowhere near that kind

          7  and when you boil them down to the unresolved

          8  issues, indeed they represent a minute, if not

          9  infinitesimal percentage of the number of

         10  transactions that are actually held in our industry

         11  in this year -- per year, I should say.

         12                 And once again, I wonder how -- oh,

         13  never mind. Again, I would like to, and the two

         14  gentlemen on my right weren't aware that I was going

         15  to do this, but I would like to offer the three of

         16  us up as potential answers to some of your more

         17  difficult questions.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON KOSLOWITZ: Okay, I thank

         19  you very much. I personally have had a problem with

         20  Jennifer, and they are not on a first name basis

         21  with me. In fact, they were quite nasty to me. So,

         22  when you say, you know -- and Jennifer is a

         23  reputable company, but it is four years and I got so

         24  frustrated that I just stopped calling.

         25                 MR. ZUCKERMAN: Do they know that your
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          2  family's history is in our industry?

          3                 CHAIRPERSON KOSLOWITZ: I don't know

          4  what they know, but I do know I am a consumer, and I

          5  do know that I purchased something from them, and

          6  after a few months being in my house, something

          7  happened, the material came away from the frame, and

          8  I called them and they told me that I must have sat

          9  on the arm of the couch. Well, I am usually in the

         10  house by myself and I usually sit on the seat, not

         11  on the arm. That was my resolution to my problem.

         12                 MR. ZUCKERMAN: Well, again, we are

         13  only one association,' clearly the industry has

         14  multiple associations, but it appears that most of

         15  us have offered our services not only in the

         16  formulation for indeed obviating of the need for

         17  this legislation, but whatever goes forward after

         18  this, we have presented ourselves as potential

         19  ombudsmen in the past and we continue to do that in

         20  the future.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON KOSLOWITZ: Thank you.

         22                 MR. GANS: Can I ask you a question

         23  about your Jennifer experience? Why did you not sue

         24  them for that sofa.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON KOSLOWITZ: I don't want
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          2  to get into that. Because I didn't want to sue them.

          3  It was just a very frustrating experience for me. I

          4  had purchased a couch, it wasn't a cheap couch, and

          5  it was a new couch and I wanted it to be new and I

          6  didn't think it should be ripped. It wasn't ripped,

          7  it just came out. In the manufacturing it wasn't put

          8  in right.

          9                 MR. ZUCKERMAN: Ultimately what we are

         10  saying is that this licensing wouldn't take care of

         11  that problem. That is really what we are saying.

         12  Those problems are never going to go away.

         13                 Thank you.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON KOSLOWITZ: Thank you.

         15                 I would like to call Linda Blair,

         16  Richard Harary, and Bebe Regnier.

         17                 MS. REGNIER: I am representing the

         18  D&D Building, it is the Decoration and Design

         19  Building. I hadn't prepared anything to say

         20  specifically. First I would like to ask you a quick

         21  question. I am a little unclear as to whether trade

         22  sources are included in this legislation? That is

         23  what we call ourselves, people who only deal with

         24  designers and architects and specifiers, we don't

         25  sell to the public.

             Legal-Ease Court Reporting Services, Inc. (800) 756-3410

                                                            90

          1  COMMITTEE ON CONSUMER AFFAIRS

          2                 CHAIRPERSON KOSLOWITZ: (Not using

          3  microphone.) No.

          4                 MS. REGNIER: Okay, so we are not

          5  included. But I would like to make one comment on

          6  behalf of myself, also having had bad experiences as

          7  a consumer, with various companies, regardless of

          8  whether they are in the home furnishings business or

          9  not.

         10                 You know, there is a saying let the

         11  buyer beware, and as an analogy to something you

         12  mentioned about maybe everybody should have credit

         13  cards, are you saying everybody should have credit

         14  cards to protect themselves? I am not saying they

         15  should, but on the other hand, then maybe they

         16  should think twice about giving such a large deposit

         17  and go somewhere else where they don't require such

         18  a large deposit. Or just be more careful. I know

         19  when I cross the street, regardless of whether the

         20  light is green, I still have to make sure that a New

         21  York City cab driver doesn't jump the light and run

         22  me over.

         23                 So, you don't always have the

         24  government or laws protecting you and you have to

         25  watch out for yourself a little bit too. That is the
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          2  only thing I would like to add.

          3                 MS. BLAIR: Thank you very much. The

          4  president of our chapter, our spokesperson has

          5  spoken eloquently and Chairwoman Koslowitz, I

          6  understand now that it was not the intention to

          7  include the interior design profession, but I came

          8  here to speak for it and its trade members and I

          9  will very briefly do so.

         10                 I am commenting on this proposal, I

         11  am a third generation interior designer born in New

         12  York, practicing throughout the state. I am the past

         13  president of that American Society of Interior

         14  Designers, author, lecturer, so forth. I have served

         15  as an advisor for the Mayor's Office on Disability

         16  and I am an outspoken advocate for the profession.

         17                 I am an arbiter for the American

         18  Arbitration Association and I commend what you are

         19  doing. I am deeply worried about this industry and I

         20  would like to ask you to work with us to change the

         21  language so that what you precisely want and should

         22  want to protect the consumer will not gather in

         23  those people who will have a hardship. It will be a

         24  hardship for the designers if this spells out in any

         25  way that we are included, it will be a hardship for
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          2  our specialists to the trade showrooms, retailer

          3  outlets as well, that some of us use to get benefits

          4  for our clients that we can utilize in different

          5  ways. There will be no due process.

          6                 In the end result the population of

          7  New York consumers will lose the benefits of our

          8  special service, which was clearly defined by Susan

          9  Aiello.

         10                 Our profession is unique and I just

         11  want to make sure that even though I am personally

         12  certified like Susan, so there is a license or some

         13  form of way for you to address any wrongdoing, that

         14  you don't throw the baby out with the bathwater, or

         15  the good guys with the bad guys. I want to wish you

         16  great luck and thank you very much for what you are

         17  doing for the consumers in New York.

         18                 MR. HARARY: Hi. My name is Richard

         19  Harary, I have an interior design store on Lexington

         20  Avenue and 92nd Street, and I have been in business

         21  18 years and my main clientele are consumers that

         22  live on the upper east side, upper west side, and

         23  also interior designers.

         24                 Now, by having legislation like this

         25  there are a few aspects that there are problems
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          2  with. First of all, licensing just New Yorkers and

          3  not out of state businesses, like the 800 numbers in

          4  North Carolina, how do you go track them down and

          5  take care of consumer complaints? It's a real

          6  problem. And we have many times clients come into my

          7  shop, take a number down and call an 800 number and

          8  then get stuck when they don't get deliveries. You

          9  have to legislate them just as fairly as my shop.

         10  You have to have an even keel here.

         11                 I have an interior design business, I

         12  have five interior designers that work for me in my

         13  shop. So, I am in a unique situation because I am in

         14  between the consumer and the retailer.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON KOSLOWITZ: You are not

         16  open to the consumer.

         17                 MR. HARARY: I am open to the consumer

         18  and also to the wholesale trade too.

         19                 Also, in regard to regulating the

         20  designers, there is a building 200 Lexington Avenue

         21  that is sort of pseudo retail wholesale, and you are

         22  saying now that you are excluding them from

         23  regulation. Now, there are many problems with

         24  excluding them because they are operating on a

         25  retail basis many times. What will you do to
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          2  regulate their business?

          3                 CHAIRPERSON KOSLOWITZ: I believe if

          4  they are retail they are covered.

          5                 MR. HARARY: They do retail sometimes.

          6  Sometimes there are showrooms in the D&D building

          7  that have these sales, so that is a retail operation

          8  also at certain times. You can't do it one time and

          9  not the other.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON KOSLOWITZ: Well, I guess

         11  we would have to look into that.

         12                 MS. REGNIER: I, myself, can speak

         13  from my own showroom that I do not sell to the

         14  public. If anyone does they are in violation of

         15  their lease, and if there is proof that they have

         16  sold to the public, which they are not supposed to,

         17  there is a recourse just as other people have been

         18  saying in this meeting, there are laws to cover it.

         19  They are not supposed to be selling retail, and most

         20  of them don't. I don't know any personally who do.

         21                 MR. HARARY: But there are, I have

         22  seen even in sales and bargains column of the New

         23  York magazine where some of the businesses in the

         24  D&D building have had private sales to consumers.

         25                 MS. REGNIER: The private sales are

             Legal-Ease Court Reporting Services, Inc. (800) 756-3410

                                                            95

          1  COMMITTEE ON CONSUMER AFFAIRS

          2  held off premises.

          3                 MR. HARARY: They are held in the

          4  showrooms.

          5                 MS. REGNIER: Not in D&D, in other

          6  buildings.

          7                 MR. HARARY: Well, also the 200

          8  Lexington Building, I don't think you could answer

          9  to that, but they are sort of retail and wholesale.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON KOSLOWITZ: Getting away

         11  from it, I don't want to point fingers at people,

         12  and, you know, we are just talking about an overall

         13  issue.

         14                 I mean, I am not here to take down

         15  names of people that are doing wrong things.

         16                 MR. HARARY: But if there is a need to

         17  regulate here, you also have to deal with

         18  fly-by-night decorators and designers that don't

         19  have licenses, that are going to be selling

         20  furniture. And how do you go to a person that works

         21  at a private home or is a fly-by-night designer, you

         22  are going to have to regulate all of them also.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON KOSLOWITZ: Thank you.

         24                 MR. KASS: I was up til 2:30 this

         25  morning drafting this statement, which I corrected
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          2  later at 7:00 this morning, and what you are doing

          3  is extraordinarily important for the consumer and

          4  for the city, but let me read my notes.

          5                 This paper has been prepared in

          6  response to documentation re: Intro. 540 dated April

          7  14th, 1999, re: Amendment of the Administrative Code

          8  of the City of New York, in relation to the

          9  licensing of furniture and major appliance dealers

         10  to the members of the City Council of the City of

         11  New York.

         12                 Madam Chairman, I am here on my own

         13  behalf as a citizen of this great city and as a

         14  professional interior designer who practices his

         15  business in this city of greatness. I am a native

         16  New Yorker, having been born in Brooklyn more than

         17  60 years ago, someone who returned to the City

         18  school system, someone who attended design school

         19  here, and someone who graduated from Pratt Institute

         20  in 1961.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON KOSLOWITZ: Can I

         22  interrupt you?

         23                 MR. KASS: Yes.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON KOSLOWITZ: Can you --

         25                 MR. KASS: Surmise?
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON KOSLOWITZ:-- Like shorten

          3  your statement?

          4                 MR. KASS: Sure.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON KOSLOWITZ: For the

          6  purpose of time?

          7                 MR. KASS: Yes, of course.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON KOSLOWITZ: Thank you.

          9                 MR. KASS: And you will get a copy of

         10  this draft of course.

         11                 To make a long story short-- I am

         12  sorry, my name is Fred Kass. And I am a professional

         13  member of the American Society of Interior

         14  Designers, and on September 1 I become the President

         15  of the New York Metropolitan Chapter of the ASID. I

         16  am presently director.

         17                 Our president spoke very eloquently

         18  about her views about this.  The matter of consumer

         19  protection is extraordinarily important; however, my

         20  feeling is that we have to split this into two

         21  parts. We have a retail and a wholesale definition

         22  of our industry in terms of total sales. We have a

         23  part of the industry that sells only exclusively to

         24  the trade, and that which sells only exclusively to

         25  retail consumers, to department stores, in
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          2  department stores and stores in general.

          3                 Basically our part of the industry is

          4  not affected by the legislation that is proposed

          5  here. But the drafting does cover us automatically

          6  because it is a general draft. And in the scope of

          7  the document we are incorporated into it, which is

          8  why we are so alarmed at the tone of this document.

          9                 I personally am in very great favor

         10  of consumer protectionism. I read and see what

         11  happens to consumers, how they are ripped off on a

         12  regular basis, costing the City and them millions

         13  and billions of dollars. Many dollars lost and much

         14  grief and much heartache, and it usually falls on

         15  those who can least afford it, the minority people

         16  in this City.

         17                 We are a very fortunate group, we are

         18  an affluent group. That is why we are separate from

         19  this, separate but equal.

         20                 The minority consumer who lives in a

         21  minority community, and I can go on and list them

         22  all to you, they are the ones who have to shop in

         23  the stores that sell them furniture that are shoddy,

         24  poorly made.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON KOSLOWITZ: You certainly
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          2  are making the generalization and I don't think that

          3  is fair. You don't have the proof of that.

          4                 MR. KASS: The proof is in the

          5  newspapers.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON KOSLOWITZ: I know. I

          7  cannot accept that.

          8                 MR. KASS: Well --

          9                 CHAIRPERSON KOSLOWITZ: Continue, but,

         10  please, not with that.

         11                 MR. KASS: All right. I won't argue

         12  with you, of course. My point is very simple. We are

         13  all here to help the public, to help the people to

         14  educate the public, to educate people so that they

         15  can understand what they are buying, to help them in

         16  the financing of what they are buying, so that they

         17  understand what it is going to cost them and if they

         18  get something that is defective, that they know what

         19  to do with it. The recourse open to them through

         20  your agency; am I correct? Well, to the consumer

         21  protection agency.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON KOSLOWITZ: Right.

         23                 MR. KASS: All right. And that I think

         24  is the thrust of the entire issue.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON KOSLOWITZ: Thank you.
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          2                 MR. HARARY: Can I just ask if

          3  draperies are going to be included in the

          4  legislation.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON KOSLOWITZ: Excuse me?

          6                 MR. HARARY: Selling draperies, is

          7  that going to be regulated also?

          8                 CHAIRPERSON KOSLOWITZ: The

          9  legislation is already written.

         10                 MR. HARARY: It says draperies in

         11  there, curtains.

         12                 MS. REGNIER: Madam Chairman, can I

         13  ask you a question off the record, just out of

         14  curiosity?

         15                 CHAIRPERSON KOSLOWITZ: No, it can't

         16  be off the record.

         17                 MS. REGNIER: Okay, then I will ask it

         18  on the record.

         19                 When you had a personal problem on

         20  your furniture, did you go beyond the customer

         21  service people, or did you just deal with someone in

         22  customer service at that company?

         23                 CHAIRPERSON KOSLOWITZ: No, I called

         24  Jennifer Convertible.

         25                 MS. REGNIER: No --
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON KOSLOWITZ: I was a

          3  consumer, and that is all a consumer would know, is

          4  to call customer service.

          5                 MS. REGNIER: Okay, because

          6  unfortunately I have found in my experience that the

          7  people who work in customer service are the lowest

          8  on the ladder and they are not always trained in

          9  customer service, and when I had a personal problem

         10  I just asked to speak to the owner or the president

         11  of the company and it usually gets resolved very

         12  quickly. That is the only reason I was asking.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON KOSLOWITZ: I am sure, and

         14  I can make this statement, I am sure that the

         15  average consumer that would ask to speak to a

         16  president would never get to the president. I could

         17  safely say that wholeheartedly that that would never

         18  happen.

         19                 Yes, I could have demanded to speak

         20  to the president or whatever, but I didn't. But

         21  certainly the average consumer will never get to

         22  speak to the president and probably won't even get

         23  higher than the customer service person, and if they

         24  go higher it will be the manager of the customer

         25  service people.
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          2                 MS. REGNIER: Well, in my former life

          3  I worked for a major department store and it is a

          4  law, as far as I know, a trade law, that if you ask

          5  for someone's supervisor the name has to be given.

          6  And even if you don't speak with that person

          7  directly, you would be given to their staff who

          8  usually does handle issues more quickly, over the

          9  heads of those people.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON KOSLOWITZ: Except when

         11  you call a large company, you never get the same

         12  person a second time. You speak to one person.

         13  Now-a-days you have recordings, press 1 for this and

         14  2 for that and 3 for this and that's it.

         15                 Thank you.

         16                 The consumer will never get to speak

         17  to the president of a company.

         18                 Seymour Migeon, Joel Pottes, Louis

         19  Mascow, Leslie Young.

         20                 MS. YOUNG: My name is Leslie. I am

         21  here on behalf of the Greater New York Home

         22  Furnishing Association and also Cliff Young, Ltd.,

         23  which is showroom at 200 Lexington Avenue.

         24                 I thought I was here to speak on Home

         25  Furnishing Association because I didn't get the
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          2  impression from reading the law that showrooms were

          3  included in the law, trade showrooms, so I want to

          4  continue to go that way.

          5                 As a reputable member of the Home

          6  Furnishing industry, I and many of my colleagues do

          7  not object to the concept of licensing. We believe

          8  that the intentions of those who are in favor of the

          9  law is honorable. The furniture industry, unlike

         10  most industries, is more complicated than those

         11  proposed in the law.

         12                 In most other industries, such as

         13  automotive or electronics, you are dealing with

         14  standard products with a specific style number. It

         15  is understandable to expect those items to be

         16  delivered on a timely basis. We are different. We

         17  are creative. We truly help the customers make a

         18  beautiful home for their families. If we are

         19  expected to obey the laws that are being proposed,

         20  you will have to carry standard products. This is

         21  considered an injustice to the consumer.

         22                 Additionally, the law will not

         23  improve the length of time consumers wait to receive

         24  their merchandise. We are beholden to the

         25  manufacturers. We would all like to deliver
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          2  furniture as quickly as possible. This law, however,

          3  will have no effect on the time delays sometimes

          4  incurred, it is targeted at the wrong part of the

          5  industry.

          6                 I can assure you that monumental

          7  efforts are made by every dealer to work with

          8  products that are reliable. We do this because it is

          9  good business and no law will change that.

         10                 The issue of the bond is also

         11  concerning. I personally believe that there is some

         12  merit to that portion of the proposal, particularly

         13  for large showrooms and stores. However, many in our

         14  business are more artists. We create beautiful

         15  designs for consumers, but most could not afford a

         16  bond. The bond will drive many smaller boutiques out

         17  of business, like the ones in your area. This is New

         18  York City and we offer some of the finest designs in

         19  the world, and I am sure this is not the intentions

         20  of the government, but it is a reality.

         21                 Finally, the intentions of those

         22  proposed in the law is good, however, the logistics

         23  in my opinion have not been completely worked out.

         24  It is quite possible that there are not any laws

         25  that could actually put the logistics of our
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          2  industry on paper, that will benefit the consumer.

          3                 That's really it.

          4                 MR. MASLOW: Good afternoon. My name

          5  is Chip Maslow, I am vice president of the Maslow

          6  Group and I am also here on behalf of my father

          7  Richard Maslow, who is president of the D&D Tenants

          8  Association. We have been in the wholesale furniture

          9  business for four generations, and primarily it has

         10  been custom work. And when I was initially asked to

         11  come and testify, I was unaware that you were

         12  planning to exclude trade shows and trade businesses

         13  from the bill and I certainly applaud your decision

         14  to do that and I would just like to give you some

         15  other reasons why I think you should continue to do

         16  that.

         17                 We, as members of -- as the tenant of

         18  the D&D building, we cannot sell to the retail

         19  public. And one of the things that we do very much,

         20  is we manufacture extremely customized merchandise,

         21  and by our continuing to do that in the New York

         22  City area we continue to utilize a lot of very, very

         23  small businesses and the businesses primarily are

         24  single entrepreneurs from an upholsterer or a

         25  touch-up person, a chandelier restorer, a gold
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          2  leafer, certain truckers, you know, just lots of

          3  small businesses, and when I had reviewed the

          4  legislation, we were very concerned that this would

          5  hinder our ability to service highly customized

          6  orders and requests from a lot of designers that we

          7  get and I certainly encourage you to continue to put

          8  in language that will exclude us and I am certainly

          9  available for questions you have with regard to what

         10  we mean when we say to the trade and things like

         11  that, if you do have any questions.

         12                 Thank you for listening.

         13                 MR. POTTER: Good afternoon. My name

         14  is Joel Potter and I am vice president of Finance

         15  for Grange Furniture, Inc. We own and operate 14

         16  designer trade showrooms throughout the United

         17  States, the largest of which is at the New York

         18  Design Center at 200 Lexington.

         19                 And I came here to testify today with

         20  the concern that this legislation would affect our

         21  wholesale trade showroom in New York. If that is not

         22  the case, I would just like to reiterate that I

         23  think that the design trade showroom should be

         24  excluded from this legislation, and to back-up some

         25  of the other testimony.
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          2                 The nature of the interior design

          3  business requires supplying a very individual and

          4  customized product to a consumer who is dealing with

          5  a professional, being an interior designer.

          6                 We at Grange deal on a business to

          7  business basis with designers involved. When you are

          8  dealing with a customized product there are many

          9  opportunities for seeing delays in the manufacturing

         10  process, labor strikes, we obtain a lot of our

         11  products from France and there are strikes in the

         12  transportation and in the labor market routinely

         13  over there.

         14                 There are delays which are just

         15  beyond our foreseeable knowledge. We do pass those

         16  delays on as soon as they are known, but because of

         17  the specialized nature of the product we sell, it

         18  can and often does involve some delays.

         19                 As a business, Grange is not opposed

         20  to the legislation as it protects consumers from

         21  irreputable or unscrupulous retailers. However, the

         22  way this legislation was initially worded, it would

         23  put unnecessary burdens on our showroom business

         24  that we would like to avoid, if possible.

         25                 Thank you.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON KOSLOWITZ: I am happy

          3  some people are happy today.

          4                 I would like to call Shelly Chang.

          5                 MR. CHANG: Good afternoon, members of

          6  the City Council, Council Member Koslowitz, and

          7  other attendees. I am delighted to have the

          8  opportunity of testifying before the Committee on

          9  Consumer Affairs.

         10                 I am also privileged to have with me

         11  my friend Richard Hsia, who was the former Deputy

         12  Superintendent of Insurance.

         13                 My name is Shelly Chang, I am a bond

         14  specialist and president of Starway Agency,

         15  Incorporated, an insurance and consulting firm

         16  located in New York City.

         17                 I obtained a BS and MBA degree from

         18  Columbia University, majoring in insurance. I became

         19  a naturalized citizen after serving in the US Army.

         20  During the past few years, and after much diligent

         21  research of the prevailing bond market, Starway

         22  Agency was instrumental in putting together a unique

         23  home improvement bond program which is comparable in

         24  cost to the existing trust fund, and readily

         25  available to all contractors.
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          2                 In light of this development, I

          3  welcome the opportunity of making a few comments

          4  concerning the provisions of the proposed

          5  legislation regarding the bond and funding

          6  requirements.

          7                 First and foremost, we commend the

          8  Committee for providing that a bond is a primary

          9  security device behind the licensing provisions.

         10  Using the bond provides the backing of an A rated

         11  surety for the obligation of licenses under the law

         12  and relieve the City from any obligation to collect

         13  and maintain funds for this purpose.

         14                 In other words, it allows the private

         15  sector to perform this function and take the City

         16  out of the business of collecting, administering or

         17  assuming the risk of the security provisions of the

         18  licensing statute.

         19                 We note, however, that the proposed

         20  legislation also provides that the Commissioner may

         21  allow the posting of cash for the full amount of the

         22  bond or in lieu of the bond or cash to establish a

         23  fund to satisfy these requirements.

         24                 While the bond obligation is the

         25  primary security vehicle, we are concerned that the
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          2  establishment of a separate fund could become equal

          3  options for licensees. This would create a heavy

          4  administrative burden on the City, and could provide

          5  a means for less qualified entities to avoid the

          6  scrutiny of an insurance underwriter in seeking the

          7  license.

          8                 As Exhibit 1 I have attached a letter

          9  from a surety company wherein it states that while

         10  the bond should be readily available, the setting up

         11  of the trust fund would be counterproductive to the

         12  bonding process.

         13                 It is to be further noted that

         14  license bonds have been in existence for many years,

         15  in such cities as Cleveland, Washington, D.C., and

         16  the State of California, since the early 1960s

         17  without the existence of a friend.

         18                 It is ironic that New York City which

         19  is recognized as the world capital of private and

         20  free enterprise should find itself compelled to

         21  continue or establish a trust fund.

         22                 For example, we strongly believe that

         23  a trust fund established for licensed home

         24  improvement contractors has become obsolete and

         25  superfluous for quite some time. And as for the
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          2  licensing statute under consideration, we would

          3  recommend that the cash alternative or the fund

          4  itself, only be utilized as a safety net if a bond

          5  isn't available.

          6                 Under the current proposal, the fund

          7  would confer uneven and unfair discriminatory

          8  protection for consumers in view of its $5,000

          9  limitation in juxtaposition to the $20,000 bond.

         10                 It injects an element of unfair

         11  competition, and would not only undermine the market

         12  for such bonds, but could severely restrict the

         13  availability of other bonds to a licensee.

         14                 As I mentioned earlier, the Home

         15  Improvement Bond Trust Fund is not only obsolete,

         16  but is a detriment to the smaller and minority

         17  contractors who otherwise could establish a valuable

         18  bonding connection for possible other bonds thus

         19  inhibiting their business growth.

         20                 In sum, this bill before your

         21  Committee is a good bill, which will be much better

         22  and more effective without the undesirable fund

         23  feature that I respectfully submit be deleted.

         24                 It is for the public interest, as

         25  well as in the interest of promoting private
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          2  enterprise for the small businessman in this dynamic

          3  city.

          4                 Both Richard Hsia and myself would

          5  now be pleased to answer any questions you may have.

          6                 Thank you for this opportunity to

          7  present our views.

          8                 MR. HSIA: If I could just add a few

          9  things to what Shelley has just said. As Shelley

         10  mentioned, my name is Richard Hsia, I am Executive

         11  Vice President of Write Risk Management Company, and

         12  I have the privilege of serving as Deputy

         13  Superintendent of Insurance for the State of New

         14  York.

         15                 I believe that the bill that you have

         16  put together and are presenting is all about New

         17  York City and all about consumer protection, and you

         18  are to be really applauded and commended for doing

         19  that.

         20                 In addition, the surety feature of

         21  your proposed legislation will facilitate the

         22  licensing and regulation that you envision in this

         23  connection.

         24                 More than that, as Shelley explained,

         25  surety bonds for this salutary purpose, should and
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          2  would be available as well as affordable. More than

          3  that, the surety process through underwriting will

          4  emphasize and ensure quality and integrity in the

          5  people that are subject to licensing and regulation.

          6  And through that process will help establish the

          7  standards for good business practices that you are

          8  trying to achieve.

          9                 At the same time, as Shelley

         10  mentioned, having the trust fund mechanism available

         11  equally to a bond raises problems in having the bond

         12  itself available and affordable because the trust

         13  fund has features that have disparities from the

         14  bond itself. For example, a lower payout, instead of

         15  the $20,000 bond level which provides that kind of

         16  consumer protection, the limitation on the trust

         17  fund is no more than $5,000.

         18                 Furthermore, it says that you can

         19  only pay into the trust fund once upon the

         20  application, rather than maybe annually. And what is

         21  triggering the fund versus what happens under a bond

         22  is also different where the Consumer Affairs

         23  Commissioner is given discretion as to whether or

         24  not to trigger the fund.

         25                 All of these things would undermine
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          2  the availability and affordability of a surety

          3  marketplace. The reality is that Starways Agency is

          4  a small business, a small business trying to do

          5  business here in New York City based in New York

          6  City.

          7                 In addition surety companies want to

          8  do business here in New York City and if given the

          9  opportunity and a fair chance to do so would assist

         10  the City and the Council in proper regulation and

         11  licensing.

         12                 Thank you.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON KOSLOWITZ: Thank you very

         14  much.

         15                 This meeting is adjourned.

         16                 (Hearing concluded at 3:35 p.m.)
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          5     STATE OF NEW YORK   )

          6     COUNTY OF NEW YORK  )

          7

          8

          9                 I, CINDY MILLELOT, a Certified

         10  Shorthand Reporter and Notary Public in and for the

         11  State of New York, do hereby certify that the

         12  foregoing is a true and accurate transcript of the

         13  within proceeding.

         14                 I further certify that I am not

         15  related to any of the parties to this action by

         16  blood or marriage, and that I am in no way

         17  interested in the outcome of this matter.

         18                 IN WITNESS WHEREOF, I have hereunto

         19  set my hand this 17th day of June 1999.
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